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Dorchester Group Limited

Strategic report for the year ended 31 Decémber 2022

This Strategic report hus been preparcd for the Group as a whole and therefore gives greater ciphusis 1o those matlers which
ave $ignificant to Darchester Group Limited (*DGL.*) and its subsidiary undertakings when viewed as a whole. The directors,
in preparing this Strategic report, have complied with s414C of the Companies Act 2006.

‘Fhe business model

Dorchester Group Limited (‘the Group™) is a limited liability coimpany domiciled and registered in England and Wales. The
principal sctivities of the Group comprisc the management of'a global lusury hospitulity investinent through the owriership
and leasing of a colleetion of legendary luxury hotels under the Dorchcstu Collection (DC) brand, as well as providing hotel
management services viy ils hotel opcraling subsidiary Dorchester Services Limited. The Group also owns commercial

properiies in the LISA.,

During the year, (he Group menaged and operated the following:
s Ownd piopeities
o The Darchester Hotel, London;
Hotel Plaza Athenee, Pariy;
Le Meuricg, Paris;
Hotel Principe di Savoia, Milan;
Hotel Eden, Rome;
Hote! Bel-Air, Los Angeles; and
The Beverly Hills Hotel, Los Angcles.

000000

o Leased pr operties
o Cowortli Park, Ascot; and
o 45 Park Lung; L. andon.

o Investment propertles.
o Two commercial properties in the USA.

s Other services
o Dorchestér Services Limited offers hotel and residences management services as well as technical refurbishmeont

services under contract for other hotel owners/developers.

Future Operations

The luxury hotel sector made a strong recovery in 2022 with hotels expcriencing a surge in demand (ko the leisure
scgment. The lingering nmpacm of COVID-19 continues Lo be felt in the corporate, meetings and incenlives side of the
busingss, where demand is fower than pre-pandemic, but steadily improving. Current ceonomic uncertainties miy furlher
delay the recovery ol this side of the business.

The Direciors expect the Group Lo continue with its current activitics of owaing, leasing and managing huspilulily assets for
the foreseenble futurc as well as to continue secking opportunities Lo creale increased value under the Dorchester Collection
(DC) brand. This includes growing the DC Brand through securing third purly management contracts such as those entered
in Tokyo to manage & luxury hotel that is cuucnuy in devclopment and due for:completion in 2028; in Dubai lo Manage 4
luxury hotel und residences dire to complete in 2023; and other branded residences thal have bu.n launched or are in
construction The investment properties operating in the US are expeeted to deliver substantial results both in operations and

capital appreciation,

Stirategy and objcctlves

‘The primary objective of the Group is (o generate value and wealth through the management, of the portfolio of lcgenclary
lusur Y hotels, and o striengthen the competilivenéss and reputalion of the iconic hutels in the reglons they have preserice in.
This is best achicved through asset managemenl s(ralcgncs that cin potentially provide growth in revenues, values and
returns, and also through excellent operational strategics thal hwe the guests, the people and owaers at its core, The ste nu.gy
of the Cnoup is also supported by several techniques inchuding undertaking constanl revicws and lienchmarking of the
portfoliv’s petforinance; as well as an effective deployment of capital expenditure to ensure highest and best use of



Dorchester Group Limited

Strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)
Strategy and objectives (continucd)

the agsets within the portiolio. The commitment (o this strategy is demonstraled by the major renpvation work that is ongoing
at our Nagship The Dorchester Hotel, with the completion of work to (he public areas of the ground fluor. A [urther strategy
of the Group is the strengihening of the BC Brand, which has built prestige and prominence within the luxury hote! industry,
and combined with the operating platform under Dorchester Services Limited, it opens up opportunities to grow the assel
light side of the business through mansgement contracts with other Wotel owners in various regions globally.

The successtul deplayment of these strategies will contribute 1o the strength of the Group and a swift recovery ol the business.
This expectation is supported by the Group’s poartlolio valuation, which exceeds pre COVID-19 levels,

Key performance indicators

The main performance indicators ace the generally accepted hotel messurements of accupancy, average daily rate, revenue
per available room, carnings and margins, As rcal estate investments, therc are also other key performance indicators such
as valuations, level of returns, yiclds as well as dividends achicvable from the portfolio.

Tn uddition to the financial KPTs, the Group also measures the performance of the other ey assets of the business which are
the people and the guests, and this.is done through various surveys, guest return rales and awards.

The performunce of nny capital expendilures ure also meesured through their teturns on investment as well as paybuck
periods, and the growib of the porttolio’s pipeline is also considered an important aspect tor the Group.

Review of the Group's business

The Group's operaling profit improved signiticantly compared to 2021 despite oceupancy remaining below pre COVID-19
tevels und the ongoing renovations of the Group’s flagship property, The Dorchester Holel, due to strong increases in the
average daily rale across the portfolio. This assisted the Group's hotels to deliver improved operating marging whilst
experiencing signilicant increases in labour and energy costs. .

The Group’s consolidated profit (or 2022 was £14m (2021:profit of £15m) afler taking the elfect of currency: fluctuations
into aceount. The consolidated profit includes an unrealised loss of £16m (202 1: profit of £49m) trom » revaluation of the
Group's holels and invesiment property.

The Group’s hotel occupancy vate was 51% (2021: 33%), whilst the average room rate incrensed from £829 to £1,042 and
revenye per availablé room (RevPAR) incrensed from £273 to £531.

The investment property business has reported profits this year. due mainly to an appréciation in usset values,

Future developments

The Group continues ta be well plaéed in our existing mature markets in Europe and USA as well as in other critical maikels
such as the Micldle East, This, together with our robust sales, marketing and revenue management strategies and our proven
ability to build compelling product offcrings, will continue to help DC increase market share during periods of both high
and low overatl demand,

The ongoing war in Ukraine has impactéd our business in the form of rising utility costs, Inflationary pressure hos resuiled
In higher general operating expenditure in conjunction with a highly competitive labour market adding to the cost pressure.
We will therefore continue to manage operating costs prudently.

‘0 increuse the exposure and value of the DC brund in new and key world feeder imarkets, the Group will continue to pursue
opportunities o grow the hotel portfolio either through organic growth, acquisitions or through third-parly management
contraets, such as the ones achieved in London, Tokyo and Dubai.
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Dorchester Group Limited
Strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Prineipal rlsks and uncertaintics

The most important components of financial risk are inflation, interest vale risk, lorcign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity
risk, casit Now risk and price risk. Due to the international nature of the Group's business and the assets and liabilitics
comained within the Group's balance sheet, the directors cansider two types ol risk to ba mast.rclevant to this Group: interest
rate and inflation iisk.

Currently the Group miligates interest rate risk through the partial use of medium-term, fixed interest rate loans. Funding
for the holels is arranged centrally by ils parent company, Brunet Investment Authovity (‘Company’), which regularly
monitors inlérest rate tisk. Foreign currency risk is miligated by ench hotel having locul bank accounts and loans in loca!
currency, which reduces exposure to adverse foreign exchange rate inovements,

‘T'he directors continue to monitor und plan far the implicutions of wider business considerations inclucling those relating to
escalating costs, staff shortages and interest rutes. The dircctors also monitor and plan mitigations for a wide range of risks
that could negalively impact our operations and reputation,

Corporate and social respousibility

The Group recognises the impact made on sociely, the economy and the planct, and are commilted to making a positive
difference to (he communities in which we operatle. By acling in actordance with our mission and valucs, we actively
demeonstrate vorporate responsibility in a manner founded on fair treatment of dur people, responsiveness to the needs of our
guests, environmental vésponsibility and ethical business practice.

A corporale responsibility steering group has been established to provide sirategic fucus and facilitates the process of
discussion, agreement and implementation of key projects to achieve CSR goals. Its chict objective Is (o ensure that we are
able to [ulfit our obligations in the most cifective way and do not compromise our values in the activities that we do, The
steering group model is implemented at both department and hotcl levels with individuals nominated to have specific charge
for corporate responsibility. These corporate responsibility ‘Chempions’ have the authority to implement key strategies.
They represent the executlve team and aré selected for their natural passion and interest in the subject.
LS

We are parfnering with lnspired PLC, an external company who is auditing our hotels to ensure we comply with all global
standards with regard to ESG at Dorchester Collection. This will be the start of a new 3-ycar joutney to map out our impact
on socicly, the economy and the planet, ensuring we are-acting in a manner that reflects our global commitment and

responsibility to this end.

Section 172 Report

Under Scclion 172 of the Companies Acl 2006, directors of the Company are taking steps n$ vequired to promate (he positive
progression of the campany for the benefit of its stakeholders.

We maintain @ safe, healthy and sustainable enviranment for our guests and cmployees as this is of paramourit importance.
We also work with LRA, a leading global inspection firm that reviews our standards on a quarterly busis to ensure full

complianée.

The Group creates, develops and lead highly competent, motivated teams who Jive the Dorchester Collection’s values, by:
+ stimulaling positive and responsive comuunication;

»  supporting lcarning and development oppottunities; and

o cneouraging our employces to realise their ful) potential.

We provide a wide runge of support to maximise our stafPs mental and physical well-being, health and safety und welfore,
Our We Care phitosophy remains strong in creating an environment shere people feel snle and respected allowing positive
engagement lo prosper. Now in its clevénth year, we continug to achieve record Jevels of employce mid guest engagement,
scoring in the top 5% of engugement globally, while our employee retention cates remain above 80% glabally.

We continue to puriner with global award winning The Gallup Organisation and Peskon to seek feedback [rom our guests
und émployees, 1o ensure we are fiving our We Care Culture and delivering on ¢ue vision of Treasured by Guests,
Cherished by Employces and Celebrated Worldwide.



Dorchester Group Limited

Strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Section 172 Report (continued)

Our Guest Experience teams work within our hotels to deliver our legendary service, while our People and Culture tcams
remain as the gatekeepers of our employce culture, creating environments where all can be developed and prosper.

lnclusion, diversity and equality are the foundation and core values of the Dovchester Group Limiled, All guests and
employees are treated fairly und with respect. QOur commitment Lo non-discrimination, diversity and gqual opportunities is
reflected in the Dorchester Collection Cade. There is no loleration of any form of discrimination, During 2022 we also
received the CGold level award, in the Inspiving Workpluees Awards, for our Diversity and Inelusion practices This is an
sward from a global movement thal provides recognilion te organisalions trying 1o create inspiring places lo work, started
by IW Consulting.

The Group's policy is 1o give the same consideration to people of determination in applications for employment, continuation
of employment, training, carcer development and promotion, having regard to their particular aptitudes and abililies.

We are commitled lo ensuring that modern slavery and human trafficking do not take place in our supply chains or in any
other part of our husiness. We expect the same commitrent from our contriclors. suppliers and other business partners.

We review our anti-corruption and anti-bribery practices on an annual basis, we write 10 all our current suppliers for the
purpose of educalion and agreement on our policies and procedures to ensure our measures arc mel,

Supplier engageinent
The Group works only with caretully sclccted supplicrs who offer the finest quality products and services. All suppliers
are screencd and as well as the quality control and credit checks, we take lime to review their ESR credentials,

Environmental management

To reduce the envirpnmental impact of operations, the Group's corporate affice supports cach hotel us they seek to minimise
encrpy consumplion, water use und waste, while procuring sustainable products in construction and refurbishiments. We are
investing in solar panels for cnergy conservalion at our hotel in Bel Aijr in 2023 and we are reviewing further opportunities
within the hotet cotlection. The Group and our hotcls comply with all applicable environmental legislation and strive to
follow bust environmental practices. We cnsurt that environmental considerations are an important aspect of decision-
making, and consider the opinions of guesis, employees and other stakcholders when cxamining our environmental
programmes and procedures.

The Group identifies areas for improvement and innovation at property level and supports the efforts of the green teams at
cach ol our properties, We are undergeing a major refurbishment of our Nagship, The Dorchester where the upgrades and
enhancements are sensitively sourced for sustainability. Each hotel monitors and seeks continues improvement in reducing
ils environmental impact.

We also carry farward our work on environmental sustainability by valuing the cultural heritage of our propertics uivd through
building partnerships with the communities in which we work,

Conununlly engugement

We also cnsurc that each hotel makes a positive contribution to the community in which it operates, not only thyough the
provision of cinployment and other direct economic benetits but by addressing broader sucial and economic needs. This
includes consideration ol local community needs and identifying how we may work to oifer our cxperlise and support. These
types of pro-dony or fund-raising opportunitics, which vaiy from hotel to hotel, ar¢ often driven by employees and nay
involve collaboration with other bodics such as charities or non-governmental organisations,

Our efforts form purt ol owr overnll governance stralegies and also link 0 our Diversity, Inclusion and Belonging
commilmenl. Wc ensurc we lollow a guideline line of Educate, Communicate and Celebrata, thus allowing our peaple and
hotels undersiand the partnerships and charities we support before we engage in activities, We have focused on protecied
statuses us outlined by (he Unitcd Nulions as well as local children's charities, This may mean doing and sponsoring
iiiitialives, ensuring our voice is pait of the conversation, working with s¢hools and communities and more. We have given
back through food and clothing initinstives and also worked with low-income communitics tind how we ¢an support them via
training und fund-raising nctivitics.

]




Dorche_as'ter Group Limited
Strategic report for the year em‘.le(l 31 December 2022 (continued)

Going conceen

The direetors have. acknowledged the lafest uidance on going conceri. Managemeni’s cash flow forecasts suppart the
Diréetor's opinion that the Group will be able o mects its obligations, us they full due, for ut teast for the 12 manthy from
the dute on ihich the accounts ar¢ signed, The Group has sensitised the. foréensts 1o Consider reusonsibly possible downside
gcenario(s). h addition (he company henctits from the Ecﬁm:inying support of it§ ultimate parent, the Brunei Investiment
Ageney and the dircetors have-considered its ability 10 provide support. For thest reasons, the dircelors are satistied that, at
thé time ol approving the linaricial stateents, it is appropriate 1o adopt thie.going concern basis in preparing the financial
stiatements.

Approved by the Board of Difectors
and signied on behalf of (he Board

Dalo Dr Aniii Licw Abdullah

Chairman .
27 September 2023
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Dorchester Group Limited

Directors’ report for the year ended 31 December 2022

The directors present their unnusl report and the wudited consolidated linancis! statements for the year ended 31 December
2022, )

tnformation about the use of financial instruments by the company and its subsidiaries is given in note 38 Lo the financial
stutements and information about future deveiopments is in the strategic report.

Proposed dividend and transfer to reserves

No dividends were paid during the year (2021 £nil).- The Group made a profit of £1dm (2021: protit £15m), which was
lransferred to retained earnings.

Capital stracture

Details of the author ised and issued share cupital, togelher with details of the movements in he compuany’s issued shuve
capltal during the year are shown in note 27. The company has one class of mdmm‘y shares which corry no right to fised
income.

Directors and their interests

The detailg ol the directors of the company, who served throughout the year and up Lo (he date of signing the financia)
statements, are as follows:

Dato Dr-Amin Liew Abdulialy

Sofian bin Md Jani

Noorsurainah 'l‘cng'\h (resigned 5 Qctober 2022)

Ahmad Fahrruddeen Mohd Azrae (appointed 5 Oulobgl’ 2022)

Thé directors do not have any beneficial interests in the share capital of the company or ils subsidiary undertakings.
Directors® indemnities

“There are no third party indemnities as it 31 December 2022 (2021: nil).

Employees

It is the Group's continuing policy and praclice to involve staff by providing and tcteiving informatioi relevant to the
progLess, devclopmenl and performance of'the Group. Matteis of concern (0 stafT as einployees were communicated through
briefing by exceutives and heads of departments, o newsletter and training courscs. Consultation with stail on matters
affecting their interests and the gencrul efficiency of the Group took place in various ways; one of these was through the
clected stulf representatives on a consullative commitice which met regularly duving the year.

In relation (o the cinployment of disabled perons, the Group's pollcy is 10 give the sume consideration to disabled peaple
85 to other people, In vegard (0 appllcntlons for cmployment, continuation af employmcnl i ammg carcer development and
promotion, having regard to their particular aptitudes and ubilities:

More inforniation on employee engagement is included in the 8172 section of the strategic report on page 5 and 6,

Political and charitable contributions

During the year, Uie Group made: donations tolalling £nil (2021 Enil) for charitablé purposes, ‘There were o political
donations (2021 Enil).
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Dorchester Group Limited

Directors’ report for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Disclosuve of information to Auditors
Euch of the persons who iy a divector al the dute of approval of this report conlirms that:

¢ so [ar as each director is aware, there is no relevant audit informalion of which (he company’s auditors are unaware; and
o each dircctor has luken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a direclor in orderto muke themselves aware of any
relevant audit inlormation and to establish that the compuny's suditors are aware of that information.

This confirmation i given and should be interpreted in accordancc with the provisions of s4 18 of the Companies Act 2006.

BDO LLP have expressed their willingness under section 487(2) 1o conlinue in office and a resolution to re-appoint them as
auditors will be proposcd at the next annual general meeling.

Statemeut of directors’ responsibilities In respect of the financial statements

The directors arc responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the finuncial statements in accordance with applicable
law and regulation.

Company lnw requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that luw the directors have
elected to prepare the group. financial statements in aceordance with UK adopted intemational accounting standards and
parent company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United
Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 “Reduccd Disclosure Framework™, and applicable law). Under
company law the dircctors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satistied that they give a true and fair
view ol the state ol affairs of the group and parent company and of the profil or loss of the group aid parcnt company for
that period,

Tn preparing the financial stalements, the directors are required to;

+ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistentiy;

» make judgements and uccounling estimates that are reasonable und prudent;

o state whether the UK adopted inlernational accounting. stundards have been lotiowed for the group financinl
statements and United Kingdom Accounting Stendards, comprising FRS 101, have been fallowed for the company
finuncial statements subject to any material departures disclosed and e\plmncd in the tinancial stalements;

»  prepore the financial stutements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate (o presume that the group and
parent Company will continue in busincss,

The dircelors are responsible for keeping adequale accounting records that are sufticient to show und explain the group and
parent company's transactions snd disclose with reasonable aceuracy at any time (Re financial position of the group and
parent company and ¢nuble them to ensure (hat the finuncial statcmenls comply with the réquirements of the Companles Act
2006, They are also responsible for saleguarding the dssets of the company and hence taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of frnud and other irregularities.

Website publication

The directors are vesponsible for enguring the annual report and the finaricial statements are made available on  website.
Finoncial statements are. published on the compsny's website in accordance with legislation in the Uniled Kingdom
goveming the preparation and dissemination of tinancial statements, which may vary from legislution in other jurisdictions.
The maintenance and integrity of the company's website is the responsibility of the directors. The directors’ responsibility
ulso extends to the ongoing integrity of the financial statements contained therein.

Divectors Statement as to the Disclosure of inforination to Auditors
Allofthe curreint directors have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken lo muke thémsélves aware of uny inlormation

needed by the Group*s auditors for Lhe purposes of thelr audit and Lo establish that the auditors are aware of that information.
The dircetors are not aware of any relevant audit information of which the auditors are unaware.
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Dorchester Group Limited

Directors’ report for the year ended 31 December 2022

Streamlined and Energy Carbon Reporting for the year ended 31 December 2022

Quantification, Methodology, Organisational Boundary and Base Yeai

Our duta covers measurements collected in our UK hatels, numely The Dorchester Hotel, 45 Park Lane and Coworth Park.
The 2048 requirements arc only applicable to lurge UK companics,

Melric

2022

2021

Energy consumption used 1o calculate cinissions

Electricity: 14,893,790 kWh

Gas: 11,764,036 kWh
Transpart: 83,599 kWh

Clectricity: 12,751,903
kWh
Gas: 11,425,793 kWh

Trangport: 31,969

(Location-based, 1CO2e)

! kWh)
26,741,425 kWh 24,209,665k Wh

Emissions from combustion of gas 2,1481C002¢ 2092.75CQ2%e
{Scope I, ICO2¢)
Emissions from combustion of fue) for lransport 26.18¢ C(i)éc‘ 81310026
purposes
{Scope 1.(CO2¢)
Emissions from purchased cleetricitys 2,8R0tCO2¢ 2,7081C02%
(Scope 2, tocalion-based, LCD2c)
Total gross emissions based on the abnve 5,054tCO2¢ 4,808tCO2¢e

iniensity measure

OCR {occupied room nights) 2022
total =50,450)

OCR (occupicd toom
nights) 2021 tolal

{Localion-based, tCO2¢)

=33.999)
(Tralfic units)
1oa 10.
Intensily rutio 0 0.13
(Location-based emisslons, 1CO2e/tiaftic unit) ]
‘I'otal nel emissions based on the above 5,05HCO2¢e. 4,3081CO2€

Mcthodology

This veport is aligned with the GHG Prolacol methadology.

Energy Eificiency Statement

Over the next three years 2022/23 (o 2025/26, The Dorchester intends to reduce its carbon footprint, expenditure oFenergy
and carbon intensily ratio without detriment to the Guest expericnce by implementing o series of properly and machinery

upgrades:

1. Replace alt guest roont windows with high insulation, sealed double glazed units. Project started in Febtuary 2022 und

will continues aver 3 phases of the refurbishment.

2. Energy efficient wall linings 1© mict the high Building Regulations Specifications.

3. Upgrade current 1,000 tunnes of chiller capacity with highér efficiency seroll teehnology madular chillers, Project
‘planncd to be completed in the Phase 3 of the relwrbishment.

4. Replace 300 in number aged and inelficicnt Fan Coil Units with new,

5. Replace 7 in number, aged and inelTicient Air Fandling Units with new or have them complelely overhanled. Four units
were already completely overhauted as a part of the project phase |,

10




Dorchester Group Limited

Directors’ reporf for the year ended 31 December 2022 (Continued)

Streamlined and Energy Carbon Reporting for the year ended 31 Decémber 2022
Quantification, Methodutogy, Qrganisational Bound:n'_‘y and Base Year

Fnergy Efficicncy Statement (Continued)

6. Improve the praductivity of curient plant and systems by implementation of a smart Building, Munageiment System
(BMS) integrated with fivverter contiols on all large motors, redundancy sensors on chiller and boiler plant and carbon
mionoxide demand monitors on ventilation und extract system for the garage. This project has alrcady started and will be
continued throughout all phuses of the eénovation. '

7. Location based programmable lighting control logics to allow effective switching on and off of lighting ¢iicuits when
not necded. )

8. Oceupancy sensors in the Guest Rooms (o ¢ifectively munage the use of Air Conditioning in the vacant rooms.

in addition to these propeities based physical solutions, the Dorchester will c;‘ommen'cc'invcsliguﬁng and understanding the
sustainability credentiuls of its power, gas #nd water supplicrs in order to be uble to make purchasing decisions that take
environmental impact-as a faclor as well as the financial implications,

Solian hin Md Jani
Divector
24 Scplember 2023



Dorchester Group Limited

Independent Auditor’s Report To Members Of Dorchester Group Limited

Opinion on the financial statements

In our opinion:

e the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Parent Company’s affairs as at
31 December 2022 and of the Group’s profit and the Parent Company’s profit for the year then ended,;

e the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK adopted intemnational accounting
standards;

o  the Parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice; and

e the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements of Dorchester Group Limited (“the Parent Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the
Group™) for the year ended 31 December 2022 which comprise Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income,
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, Consolidated Cash Flow
Statement, Company Statement of Financial Position, Company Statement of Changes in Equity and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied
in the preparation of the Group financial statements is applicable law and UK adopted international accounting standards.
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Parent Company financial statements is
applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framework (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group and the Parent Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to
our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Directors” use of the going concern basis of accountmg 1n
the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group or Parent Company's ability to continue as a going
concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant
sections of this report.
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Dorchester Group Limited

Independent Auditor’s Report To Members Of Dorchester Group Limited

Other information

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the
annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements
does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to
determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Other Companies Act 2006 reporting

In our opmion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

e the information given in the Strategic report and the Directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

e the Strategic report and the Directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group, the Parent Company and its environment obtained in the
course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Strategic report or the Directors’ report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to
report to you if, in our opinion:

e  adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches
not visited by us; or

¢ the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
e certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
e  we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of Directors

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors Responsibilities, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of
the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Parent Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the Parent Company or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

13



Dorchester Group Limited

Independent Auditor’s Report To Members Of Dorchester Group Limited

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered matenal if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.

Extent to which the audit was capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with
our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent
to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud 1s detailed below:

Obtaining an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the Group and the Parent
Company, focussing on provisions of those laws and regulations that had a direct effect on the determination of material
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. These include, but are not limited to, compliance with the Companies
Act 2006, UK adopted International Accounting Standards, United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice,
pensions legislation, tax legislation and those laws and regulations relating to health and safety and employee matters in
the jurisdictions in which the Group and the Parent Company operate.

Making enquiries of management and the Board of the Parent Company policies and procedures relating to:
o identifying, evaluating, and complying with laws and regulations and whether they were aware of any instances of
non-compliance;
o detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged
fraud; and
o the internal controls established to mitigate risks related to fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations.

Making enquiries of other personnel with roles relevant to compliance with laws and regulations.

Communicating the relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement team members,
and remaining alert to any indications of fraud or non-comphance with laws and regulations throughout the audit.

Assessing the susceptibility of the financial statements to material misstatement, including how fraud might occur in the
financial statements and any potential indicators of fraud. The group risk assessment was shared with the component
audit teams to ensure that appropriate audit procedures were planned and performed in each jurisdiction. We identified
potential for fraud in the following areas and performed the following procedures:

o management override in relation to posting inappropriate journal entries and accounting for key estimates: we
evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements
(including the risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to posting
inappropriate journal entries to manipulate financial results and management bias in accounting estimates and
judgements. Audit procedures performed by the group audit team and component auditors included:

o challenging assumptions made by management in their significant accounting estimates for indications of
bias or management override, in particular in relation to property valuations;

o identifying and testing manual journal entries, in particular any journal entries containing characteristics
of audit interest such as manual journals to revenue, account receivables and cash, and for journals which
are inconsistent with the usual transactions of the Group and the Parent Company.

o management override in relation to revenue recognition: we evaluated the control environment pertaining to sales,
specifically looking cash collection, correlation between hotel booking system and accounting system, and the
posting of daily sales journals.

14



Dorchester Group Limited

Independent Auditor’s Report To Members Of Dorchester Group Limited

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (continued)

o management override in relation to the hotel refurbishment and fixed asset additions: we evaluated the tendering
process, confirmed the independence of the parties involved, confirmed the progress of refurbishment project and
substantively tested a sample ot additions.

As a result of these procedures, we considered the opportunities and incentives that may exist within the organisation for
fraud and 1dentified the greatest potential for fraud in management’s incentive to manipulate earnings before tax.

Our audit procedures were designed to respond to risks of material misstatement in the financial statements, recognising that
the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery, misrepresentations or through collusion. There are
inherent limitations in the audit procedures performed and the further removed non-comphance with laws and regulations is
from the events and transactions retlected in the financial statements, the less likely we are to become aware of it.

A further description of our responsibilities is available on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at:
https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Parent Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Parent Company’s members those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Parent Company and the Parent Company’s members
as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

DocuSigned by: .
E‘/M& RA Edwards

9214367793F4491...

Mark RA Edwards (Senior Statutory Auditor)

For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor
London

29 September 2023

BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number OC305127).
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Dorchester Group Limited

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Note 2022 2021

£'000 £000
Revenue 5 450,107 263,307
Cost of sales (222,241) (142,034)
Gross profit 221,866 121,273
Administration expenses (170,169) (137.518) ~°
Unrealised profit/(loss) on prqperties 7 (15,914) 49,132
Operating profit 8 41,783 32,387
Investment income 10 1190 7
Finance costs 1 (24,806) - (10,439)
Finance income 12 - 4,338
Profit before tax: 17,087 26,793
Tax on profit for the year 13 (2,669) (11,314)
Profit for the year 14418 15,479
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit and
loss o '
Surplus on property revaluation 357,072, 197,386
Actuarial gains/(losses) in defined benefit pension schemes’ 37 (34) 4,392
Income tax relating to items not re-classified 13,23 (93,384) (72,567)
263,654 129,211
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit and
loss
Currency retranslation (losses)/gains 14 93,602 (13,914)
93,602 .  (13,914)
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 357,256 115,297
Total comprehensive income/expenditurc for the year 371,674 130‘,77'_6'

The notes on pages 21 to 63 form an intégral part of these financial statements. Total comprehensive income for both years
is attributable solely to thé shareholder of the company.
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Dorchester Group Limited

Consolidated statement of financial position
As at 31 December 2022

Nou-curyent assets

Goodwil)

Other intangible assels
Property. plant and equipmeit
Right-of-use assels
Invesiment property.

Cuvraiit assets

Inventoiics

TFrade and other receivables
Cash and ¢ash equivalonts

Total asscts

Current liabilities
Trade aird other payables
Currenl 1ax ligbilities:
Leasc fiabililies
Financial lHabilities

Net current assets/(liabllities)

Non-current Habilities
Financial liabilities
Deiined bencfit liabilitics
Deferred tax liabilities
Lease liabilitics
Long-term provisions:

Taotal liabilitics

Net assets

Note

20
21
35

22
37

36

26

2022 2021
£000 £'000
23,621 21,396
4,222 4,913
2,262,284 1,745,156
93,634 94,196
187,131 193,782
2,570,892 2,059,443
11,773 9.400
46,094 34,312
171,039 95,781
228,906 139,493
2,799,798 2,198,936
155,572 117,071
2.236 .
5.834 6,112
43,706 41,466
207,348 164,649
21,558 (25,156)
651,340 584,100
6,689 6,905
365,640 259,137
103,385 102,591
2,367 1,934
1,129,421 954,757
1,336,769 1,119,406
1,079,530

1,463,029




Dorchester Group Limited

Consolidated statement of financial position (continued)

As at 31 December 2022 )

Note
Equi(y )
Share capital 27
Share premidm 28
Capital reserve 29
Revaluation reserve 30
Merger reserve 31
Translation réserve 32
Retained carnings 33
Totn! equity

The vdtes onpages 21 10 63 form an integal part ol these financial statements.

I'he financial statementsol Dorehester Group Limited (registered number 01823603) were approved by the Board of

Dircctors and authorised for issue on 24 September 2023.

Approved by ihe Board of Dircetors
And signed o Q‘héhz_ill‘olﬂ‘l’he Board.

Dato Dr Axi‘\il{ Liew Abdullah Solwn bin Md Jani
Chairman Director

2022 2021
£:000 £'000
199,710 199,710
37,711 37,71
29,612 §7,787
$42,680) 578,992
93,437 93,437
154,973 61373
104,904 90.520
1,463,029 1,079,530
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Dorchester Group Limited

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Note

Bulonee at § Januney
w21 '

Profil for the year

Otlter coinpretensive
income/(foss) for the
yeur

Totdl éompreliensive
incame far the yenr

Shire issue

Capital conlributions

Balance at
31 December 2021

Profil tar the year

Other comprchetisive:
incomes(ioss) for te
year

“Folnl campreliensive
lucame/ings for year

Shaord (ssue

‘Capital contributions

Bhiancent
31 December 2022

The niotes on pages 21 16 63 form an integral pare of these financinf statciments..

by 28 29 30 31 n
Shave Share’ Capitnl  Revatuation Merger  Tradsiation
eapitai premiom Reserve reserve reserve. Feserve
£'000 £000 £:000 -£'000 £000, £000.
120,009 7Nt 18,249 453,338 93437 75287
- - 2 125,654 - (13.914)
. - 2 125,654 - (13.914)
79,701 - . - .
: - (564) - . .
199,710 37,711 11,787 578,992 93,437 61,373
- . 263,648 . 93,602
- - 203,688 - 93,602
- - 11,825 - - .
199,710 YA 542,680 93,437 154.975

29,612

33

Rétained
carniugs
£'000

71436

15479

3,585

——aimr—

19,034

e co——

96520

14418

(34)

14,384

104,904

Y

Totit eyuity
£:000

869,617

15,499

115297

130,776

79301

(564

1,079,530

14,418

357,256

- ———

371,674

11,825

1.463,029

= e



Dorchester Group Limited
Consolidated cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Profit for-the yesr before tax

Adjustments for:

Finance and investment income

Forcign exchange loss on linancial liabilities

Finance costs

Depreciation of proparty, plant und equipment and right of use assets
Amoitisation of intdngibles

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Decrease/(Increase) in fair value of Investment property
Increase/(Decrease) in provisions

Revuluntion gain on hotel property

Qperating cash: flows before movements In working capital

Increase in inventories

Inerease in receivables
Increase in payables

Cash generated by operations

Incomé laxes réceived
Interest paid -

Net cash generated from opernting activities
fuvesting activities

Interesl received

Purchases of property, plantand equipment additions to invesiment properties

and intangibles
Net cash wsed in investing activitics
Financing activities

Leasé payments
Loans advanced
L.oan principle paid

Net cash generated from flnancing activitics

Net inerease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents af beginuing of year
Eftect of foreign exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Note

10
(1, 12
h
17, 36
16
17
18

Year Year
ended ended
2022 2021
£000 £'000
17,087 26,793
(o (N
15,069 (4,338)
9,737 10,439
30,594 29,083
1,846 1,621
(308) 770
32,191 (6,370)
342 (923)
(16,277) (42,763)
90,171 14,305
(2,373) (55)
(11,595) (11,847)
13,483 19.578
89.646 21,980
6,188 4,757
(3,342) -
92,492 26,737
110 -
(68.588) (13,641)
(68,478) (13,634)
(6,494) (873)
55,437 4,228
(1,891 (1,037)
a2 2306
71,066 9
95,781 82,217
4,192 (1,853)
171,039 95,781
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Dorchester Group Limited
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

1. General information

Dorchester Group Limited (the “company™ is a compairy incorporated in the United Kingdom under the Companics Act
2006, and 4 limited liability company domiciled and registered in England and Wales. The address of the registered office
is 3 Tilney Streel, London, WIK 1BJ. The nalure of the company und its subsidiuries’ (logether the “Group’s”) operations,
its principal activities and business review are set out in the strategic report on puge 3 to 7. Accounting policices have been
applied consistently, other than where new policies huve been adopted.

These finuneial statemenis are presented in pounds sterling and have been rounded to thousands. The lunctional curréncics
of Group companies arc the currency in which the particular company operates, which is Sterling, Furo or US dollar. Foreign
operations are included in accordance with the policies sct out in note 3.

2. New standards and amendments

(n) New standards, inferpretations and amendments adopted from 1 January 2022

‘I'he fallowing amendiments are effeclive for the period beginning 1 Junvary 2022;

« Onerous Contracls — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendiments to 1AS 37);

+ Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before ntended Use (Amendments to IAS 16);

» Annual Improvements to {FRS Standards 2018-2020 {Amendménts Lo IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 41); and

+ Refevences 1o Conceptual Framework (Amcendments o IFRS 3),

These amendments to various [FRS standards are mandatorily effective for reporting periods beginning on or after |
January 2022. Sce the applicable notes for iurther details on how the amendments affected the Group,

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to 1AS 37)
IAS 37 delines an vnefous contract s a contract i which the unavoidable costs (costs that the

Group has committed to pursuant Lo the contract) of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the cconomic
benelits expected to be reccived under it.

‘The amendments Lo [AS 37.68A clurify, that the costs relating directly to the contract consist of both:
+ The increinental costs of fulfifling that contract- e.g. direct labour und tnuterial; and

+ An allocation of other costs thal relute directly to fulfilling contracts: ¢.g. Allocation of depreciation charge on property,
plant and equipment used in fullilling the contract.

“I'he Group, prior to the application of the amendments, did not have sny onerous contracts.

As a result of the amendiments, cerlain ather dicectly velaied costs have now been included by the Group in determining the
cosis of fulfilling the contracts. The Group has not recognised any additionil onerous contract provision as sl | January
2022,

In accordance with the transitional provisions, the Group applies the amendments to contracts for which it has nol yet tulfilied

all its obligations at the beginning of the annual reporting period in which il first applies the amendments (the date of initial

application) und has not restated its comparative information.

21
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Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2. New standards and amendments (continued)

(r) Newv standavds, interpretations and amendments adopted from 1 January 2022 (continued)
Properiy, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Infended Use (Amendments 10. 145 16)

The smendment o JAS 16 prohibits an entity from deducting from the cost of an item ol PP&E uny proceeds received
from sclling items produced while the eatity is preparing the asset for its intended usc (for example, the proceeds from
selling samples produced during the testing phase of & manufacturing facility afier it is being constructed but before start
of commercial production). ‘The proceeds from selling such samples, together with the costs of producing them, are now.
recognised in profil or loss.

These amendments had no impact on the year-end consolidated linancial statements ol the Group as theve were no sules of
such items produced by property, plant and equipment made avuilable for use on or aller the beginning of the earliest
period presented.

Annnal tmprovements to [FRS Standards 2018 - 2020 (dmendments 1o IFRS 1, 1FRS 9. 1I'RS 16 &
148 41)

¢ [FRS 1: Subsidiary as a First-time Adopler (FTA).
« tFRS 9: Fees in the *10 puer cent’ Test for Derecognition of Financial liabilities;
+ 1AS 41: Taxstion in Fair Value Mcasurements.

References to Conceptual Framework (Amendments io IFRS 3)

In May 2020, the IASB issued amendmenis lo (FRS 3. which update o reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting without changing the accounting requirements for business combinations.

(b) New standards, interpretations and amendments not yet effective

There are 8 number of standards, amendments (o standards, and Interpretations which have been issued by the IASB that arc
cffective in future accounting periods that the Group has decided not to adopt early.

The following amendments are effective for the period beginning 1 January 2023:

* Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendients 1o 148 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2);

* Insnrance Contrécets (IFRS 17);

s Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8); and

* Deferred Tax Reluted fo Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction (Aendhuents to IAS 12)

The following amendments are éftective for the period beginning 1 January 2024:

* IFRS 16 Leases (Amendiment — Liability in o Sale and Leaseback), ‘
* |AS | Presentation of Financial Statements (Amendmenl - Classitication of Liabilities as Curvent or Non -current).
* IAS 1 Presentation of Finemeial Statements (Amendment = Non-curvent Liabilities with Covenants).

"Fhe Group is currently assessing the impact of'these new accounting standards and amendments. The Group does not believe
thaut the amendments to IAS | will have o significant impast on the elussification of its Habilities, us the conversion feature
in its convertible debt instruments is clyssilied as an equity instrument and therefore, dogs nol afTeet the classification of its
convertible debt us i non-curvent liability.

The Group does not expect any other standards issued by the IASH, but not yot effective, 10 have a material impact on (he
group.
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Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. Significant accounting policies

Basis of accounting

The (ingncial stutements are prepared under the histerical cosl convention, modificd to include the revatuation of investiment
properties and land #nd buildings and arc in accordance international accounting standards in conformity with the
requirements of the Companics Act 2006, Hislorical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in
cxchange for goods and services. The principal accounting policies are sct out below,

Fair value is the price that would be receivable 10 sel! an assel or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
markel participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of the asset o the liability, the Group takes into account the charncteristics
of the asset or liability il'imarket participants would tuke those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability
at the measurcment date, Foir vatue for measurement snd/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements
is delermined on such basis, cxcept for leasing trunsactions (hat wre within the scope ol IAS 17, and the measurements that
have similarities (o fair vajue but are not fair value, such as nct tealisable value in TAS 2 or the value in use in IAS 36.

In addition, for financial réporting purposcs, fair value measurcments ave calegorised into Level 1,2 or 3 based on the degrec
(0. which the inpuls to the fair value measurements are observable and the signilicance of the inputs to the [air value
measurement in its entivety, which are described as foflows:

o Level | inputs ave quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markels for identical ussets or liabilitics that the enlity can assess
ot the measurement date; )

e Levet 2 inpuls are inpufs, or other quoted prives included within Level 1, that arc obscrvable for the asser or lability,
either divectly or indirectly; and

« Level 3 inputs are unabservable inpuis for the asset or linbilily.

Basis of consolidation

‘The Group linancial staleménts consolidate the financial statements of the Dorchester Group Limited and its subsidiary
undertakings drawn up to 31 Decomber each ycar. Control is achieved when the Company:

e has the power over the invesiee;
» is oxposcd, or has Tights, lo variable retura from its involvement with the investee; and
o has the ability o use its power to afTect its returns,

All subsidiarics are 100% owned cither directly or indivectly.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Compuny oblains control over the subsidiary and ceuses when the Company
loses ¢ontro} of the subsidisry, Specifically, thé results of subsidiaries acquired or dispused of during the year are included

in the vonsolidated income statement from the datc.the Company gains control until the dale when the Company ceascs (0
control the subsidiary, Where necessary, adjusiments ave made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the
nccounting policies used into line with the Group uccounting policles.

Albintragroup asscts and liabilitics, equity, income, cxpenscs and cash flows in relation. to transactions betwecn the members
of the Group ure eliminated on cousolidation.
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Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

Going concern

The financial statements have been prepared on u going concern basis which assumes that the Group and the Company will
continue in operational existence (or the foresceable fulure, The company has the continuing suppurl of its ultimate parent,
the Brunci Investient Agency and the divectors have considered the laticr’s ubility to provide suppor(. The Directors huve
reviewed the Group's budget for the nexi year und considered other plans, concluding that the Group is well placed (@
manage ils business risks successfully. For these reasons, the directors are satisficd that, al the time of approving the linarciel
slateiments, it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial stalements.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using (he acquisition method. The consideration lransterred in
a business combination is mcasured at fair value, which is calculated os the sum of the acquisition-dute fair values of ussels
wansferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the cquily interest issued
by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs ar¢ recognised in profit und loss as incurrcd,
At the acquisition dale, the identifiable nssels acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised al their fair value at the
acquisilion date, except thal deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or liabilitics reluted (0 employee benefit arangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with TAS 12 Income taxes and IAS 19 Employee benefits vespectively.

Contribution of business by shareholder

Contributions of businesses by the shareholder are outside the scope of IFRS 3 Business conbinations and are accounted for
using micrger accounting principlés and ¢redited (o the merger reserve.

Goodwill

Goodwill urising in a busifiess combination is recogniscd as an asset at the dale that contro! is-acquired (the acquisition date).
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration translerred, the amount 6f any non-controlling interest
in the acquircc and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest (il any) in the cntity over the net of the
acquisition-clate umounts of the identitiable assets acquired und the liebilitics ussumed,

It, aftér reasscssment, the Group’s interest in the fair value of the acquirec’s identifiable net assets exceeds the sum of the
consideration (iansferred, the amount of any non-controlling inlerest in the acquirec and the fair value of the acquiret’s
previously held equity interest in the dequiree (if any), the cxcess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain. ‘

Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed lor impairment ot least annually. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodivill
is allocated to cach of the Group’s cash-generating unity expected to bencfil from the synergies of the combination. Cash-
generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are Lested for impairment annually, or more [requently when there s
an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the ¢artying
amount of the unit; the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carvying amount of any goadwill ullocaled to the unit
and then to the ather ussets of the unit pro-rata o the hasis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unil. An impairiment
loss recognised for gaodwill is nol reversed in a subsequent period.

On disposal of a subsidiary, the altvibuteble amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss on
disposal,
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Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. Significant accounting policies (continuad)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measired at the fair value of the consideration reccived or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods and services provided in the normai course of business, net of discounts, VA'T and ather sales related taxes.
Revenue is reduced for customer rebutes and other similar allowances.

Revenue compriscs:

s Income from the ownership and operalion of hotels including room revenue, food and beverage. spa and cvents is
recoghised as the related services are provided.

o Rental income from investment propertics and is recognised in the income slatement on & straight-line basis over the
term of the lease, Lense incentives granted are recognised as ari integral part of the total rental income,

o Interest income is recognised when it is probable thut the economic. benefits will flow to the Group und the amouit ol
révenuc can be measured reliably. Intercst income is acerued on a lime basis, by reference lo the principal outstanding
and-al the efieétive interest rat applicable.

In the event costs are incurred in order Lo obtain new hotel management agréements the cost of consideration paid is deferred

over the period for which the new hotel management agreement is granted and amorlised over the minimum contract period.

Leases

The Group as « lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straighl-line busis over the lerm of the relevant lease. Initial direct
costs incuired in negotialing and urranging an operaling lease are expensed us incurred.

The Group as a lessee

Assets held wnder finance leases are capilalised und are amortiscd over the shorter of the lease terms and their uselul
economic lives. The capital clements of the finance lcase obligations are reécorded as liabilities, whilst the interest elements
are charged to profit or loss over the period of the leascs lo produce u constant rate of charge on the balance of capilal
repayments outstanding,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)

All leascs are accounted for by recognising a right-of-use asset and a Icasc liability except for:

+ lLeases of low valuc assets; und
¢« Leases with a duration of 12 manths or less.

The folluwing policics apply subsequent to the datc o initial application, 1 January 2019,

Lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the contractusl payments due to the lessor over the lease term, with the
discount rate determined by reference 1o the rate inherent in the lease unless (as is typically the case) this is not veadily
determinable, in which case the group®s incremental borrowing rate on commencement of the lease is used. Variable fease
payments are only included in the measurement of the leasc linbility il they depend on an index or rate. In such cases, the
initial measurement of the leasc liability assumes the variable element will remain unchanged throughout the lease term.
Other varinble leasc payments are expensed in the period (o which they relate,

On initial recognition, the carrying value of the lease liability also includes:

+ amounts expecled to be payable under any residual value guarantee;

+ the exercise price of any purchase option granted in favour of the group it it is reasonable certain to asscss that option;
and

+ any penalties payable for terminating the lease, il the term of the lease has been estimated on the basis of termination
option being excreised.

Right ol"usc asscls ar¢ initially measurcd at the amount of the Iease linbility, reduced for any tease incentives reccived, and
increased for:

+ lease payments madc at or before commencement of the lease;

+ initial direct costs incurred; and

+ he amount of any provision recognised where the group.is contracually required lo dismantic, remove or restorc the
leased asset,

Subsequent 1o initial measurement lease liabilities increase as a vesult of interest charged at a constant rate on the balunce
outstanding and ure reduced for lease puyments imade. Right-of-use assets arc amortised on a straight-line basis over the
remaining tern of the lease or over the remaining economic life of the asset if; rarely, this is judged to be shorter than the
lease term.

When the group revises its cstimate of the Lerm of any lease (beeause, for example, it re-ussesses the piobabilily of o lessee
extension or termination option being exercised), it adjusts the carrying amount of the lease liabilily to reflect the payments
to make aver the revised term, which are discounted at the same discount vale that applicd on lease commencement. The
carrying value ol lease liabilitics is similarly revised when the variable element of future lease payments dependent on arale
ar index is revised. In buth cases an equivalent adjustment is made to the carrying value of the right-of-use assct, wiih the
revised cuirying amount being amortised over Lhe remaining (revised) lease term,

When the group renegotiates the cortractuul teerts of a lease with the. lessor; the accounting depends on the naturie of the
maodification;

+  Ilthe renegotialion results in one of more additional assets being leased lor an amount conumensucate with the standalone
price [or the additional rights-of-use obtained, the modification is accounted lor as a separate lease in sceordance with
the above policy.

+ Inall ofher cases where the renegotinted increases the scope of the lease (whether that is un extension o the lease lerm,

ar one ar more additional assets being leased), the lease liability is remeusured using the discount rine applicable on the
madification date, with the right-of’use asset being adjusted by the same amount.
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Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (continued)

*  Ifthe rencgotiation scsults in a decrease in the scope of the Jease, both the carrying amount of the leasc liability and right-
of-usc asset are reduced by the same proportion to refleet the partial or full termination ol the lease with any difference
recognised in protit or loss. The lease liability is then further adjusted to ensure its carrying amount reflects the amount
of the renegoliated payments over the renegotiated term, with the modified tease payments discounted wt the rate
applicable on the modification date. The right-of-use asset is adjusted by the saine amount,

The Group leases many assets including land and buildings, plant, machinery and motor vehicles. However, the Group has
elected to not recognise right-of-use assets and lease linbilities for leases ol low-value assets (<£5,000 asset values) and
leuses with terms of less thaiy 12 months.

The Group presents right-of-use asscts separate to tangible fixed assets that it owns,
Forcign currencies

The individual financial statements of each Group company ave presested in the currency of the primary economic
environment in which it operates (its functionsl currency). For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements. the
vesults and financial position of each Group company are expressed in Pounds Sterling, which is the functional curvency of
the Company, and the preseniation currency for the consolidated finaucial statemcenis.

In preparing the financial statements of Lhe individual companics, transactions in currencies other than the eatity’s funclionul
currency (forcign currencies) arc recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dales of the transactions. Al each
balance shect date, monclary assets and liabilitics that are denominated in forelgn currencies are relranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monelary items carricd at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies ave translated st
the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined, Non-monctary items that arc measuved in lerms of
historical cost in & foreign currency are not retranslated.

‘The assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are transiated into Sterling at the closing rates of eéxchange and the differences
urising {rom the translation of the opening net investment in subsidiarics at the closing vate and matched long-lerm lorcign
currency borrowings arc taken direct (o translation reserve and reported in the statemeént of comprehiensive income. ‘The
revenues and expenses of foreign subsidiaries arc translated into Sterling at the average rate of exchange for the period,

Retircment benefit obligations

For defined benefit schemes the amounts charged Lo operaling profit are the current service cosls and goins and losscs on
setilements and curtailments. They arve included as part of staff costs, Pastscrvice costs are recognised immediately in prolit
or loss if the benefits have vested. [ the benefits have not vested immedistely, the costs are recognised over the period until
vesting occurs. The iriterest cost and the expeeted return on assets are shown as a net umount of other finunce costs or credits
adjacent (o interest. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in other comprehensive income.

Defined benefit sehemes are funded, with the assets of the scheme held separntely from those ol the Group, in separate
trustee-administered funds. Pension scheme assets are measurcd at fuir value and liabilities are measured on an actuarial
basis using the projected unit method and discounted at u rate cquivatent to the eurrent vate of retun on a high-quality
corporate bond of cquivalent currency and term o the schome liabilities. ‘The actuarial valuations are obtained al least
rienninily asid are updated at each balance sheet date. The resulting defincd bencfit asset or liability is presented separately
aller uther nel assels on the fuce of the consoliduted statement of financinl position.

For deflined contribution schemes (he amount charged to prolit or loss in respect of pension costs und other post-retirement
benefits is the contributions payable in the year. Diflerences betweéen contributions payable in the year and cantribtitions
actually paid are shown gs either aceruals or prepayments in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Further information on pension acrangements is set out In note 37,
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Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. Significant accounting policies (continned)

Taxation

Current tax, including UK corporation tax and loreign lax, is provided ut amounts expected lo be paid {or recovered) using
the tax rates snd luws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balunce sheet date.

Deferred tax is (he tax expeeted to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of asscls and
liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, und is
accounted Tor using the balance sheet Hability method, Delerred tax labilities are generally vecognised for all tuxuble
(emporary ditferences and deferred tax assets are vecognised 1o the extent thal it is probable (hat taxable profits will be
availuble ugainst which deductible temporary dilferences ean be utilised. Such assels and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difterence arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or from the initial recognition (other thun in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting prolit.

Deferred tux liabilities are recognisest for taxable temporary differences arising on Investments in subsidiarics and associates,
and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal ol the temporury difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assels is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufticient taxable prolits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is caleulated ot the 1ax vates that are expected to apply in the periad when the liabilily is seltled or the asset is
realised based on tax laws and rates that ave been enacted at the bulunce sheel date, Deferred tax is churged or eredited in
the incomc statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited in other comprehensive income, in which case the
deferred tax is also dcalt with in other comprehensive income.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when theve is a legally enforcenble right to set ol7 current tax assels against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the snme taxation authority and the Group intends to
settle its current lax assets and liabililics un a net basis.

Deferred linx isrecognised in respect of the retained earnings of oversens subsidiaries and associates only 1o the extent that,
at the balance sheet date, dividends have been ueerued as receivable or a binding agreement to distribute past earings in
future has becn enlered into by the subsidiary or associate.

Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings are stated at valuation, being the fair value at the dale of revaluation, less any subsequent accumuluted
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. Revalualions are performed with sufticient regularity such that
the carrying amount does not differ materially from that which would be determined usiog fair values at the balance shect
date.

Plant and equipment is stated at cost, net of nccumulated depreciation and any provision for impairment. Depreciation is
provided on plant and equipment and freehold end leasehold buildings. to write ofT the carrying value fcss the estimated
residual value by equal instalments over their estimated useful economic lives as follows:

Leaschold land and buildings - Lifeof lease
Frechold buildings - 50 years
Plant and machinery « 415 years
Fixtures, filtings and equipment - 5 years

No depreciation is provided oi freehold land.

Any revaluation incrense arising on the revaluation of freehold buildings is credited to revaluation reserve, except to the
extent that it reverses a revaluation decreasc for the same asset previously recognised as an expense, in which case the
increase is credited lu the income statement to the extent of the decreasc previously expensed. A decrease in carrying amount
arising on the revaluation of such land and buildings is charged as un expense 10 the extent that it excecds the balance, if
any, held in the properties revaluation reserve relating o a previous revaluation of thal asset. Depreciation on re-valued
trechold buildings is charged to income.
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Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. Significant accounting policies {continucd)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Assels under construction includes the capitalisation of costs ot development or refurbishment that are direcily altributable.
These assets are recognised once they meet the recognition criteria, i.¢. when probable futureé economic benefits associated
with the item will flow to the catily and the cost can be reliably measured. Depreciation ot properlies in the cowrse of
construction is provided on the same basis &s other properly assets, in that it commences when the assels are ready tor their
intended use.

Inyestment property

Investment praperty held by the Group is held lo earn rentals andfor for capital appreciation, [nvestment property iy stuled
at fair value at the balance sheet date. Guins or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment property arc
included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise, Investment properly is initially vecorded at cost along with any
initial transaction charges. Details of valuations to determine fair value ure given in note 18,

Tutangible assets

Compuler software is internally gencraled and is included in the consolidated statement,of financiul position as an intangible
asset and is recorded inltially at cost and then amortised over its expected useful life of between three and five years on a
straight-line basis.

Cosls associated with maintaining computer soltwarc programmes vre recognised as an expense as incurred, Development
costs thut are: directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable.and unique soflware products contiolled by the
Group are recognised as intangible assets when the foltowing criteria ure met:

- il is lechnically feasible to complcte the software prodiscl so that it will be available for use;

- management intends (0 complete the soflware producl and use or sell it;

- there is an ability to usc or sell the software product;

- it cun be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economic benefits;

- adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and o use or sell the soflwire procluct
are availabic; and

- the expenditure atiributable to the software product during its development can be reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs thal are capitalised as part of the sollware product include the soflware development, employee
costs anud un éppropriate portion of refevant vverheads. Subscquent to initial recognition, intangible assets scquired in a
business combination are reported at cost less accumulaled impairment Josses.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and nel realisable valuc. In deiermining the cost of raw materials, consumables
and goods purchased for resale, the weighted average purchase price is used. Provision is made for obsolete, stow-moving
or defective items where appropriale.

‘Trade and other receivables

Trade und other receivables.arc amounts due for services performed in the ordinary course of business, which generally
have 30 day paymen! terms.

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised el fair value, ndvmally equivalent to the invoice amount, and
subsequently measured al wmoriised cost using the elféctive inierest methad, less provision for impairment, Interest income
is recognised by applying the effeelive interest rate, except for shori-lemm receivables when the recognition of interest would
be immaterial. Impairment provisions for current and non-cuprent Irade réceivables are recognised bused on the simplified
approach within IFRS9 using a provision matrix in the determination of lifetime expeceted credit losses. During this pioiccss
the probability of the.non-payment of the trade receivable is assessed und multiplied by the amount of the expected loss
arising from defaull to determine the lifelime expected credit loss for the trade recejvables. Balances are written off when
the receivable amount is deemed irrecoveruble.



Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. Significant accounting policies (continue)

Cash and cagh equivalents

Cash unil cash cquivalents includes cash in hand, deposits at call with banks, other short term highly liquid investment with
original maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafis, o the statement of financial position, bank overdrafis are
shown within borrowings in current liabilitics,

Trade and other payables

‘trade und other payables arc obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of
business. Accounls payable ure classificd as current liabilities if piyment is due within one year or less (or in the normal
aoperating cycle of the business i longer). 1Inot, they are presented as non-current fiabilitics.

Trade and other payablés are recognised initially-at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method,

Impairinent

The carrying amounts of the Group's non-financial assels, excluding investment propertics and land and buildings (as they
are revalued regularly), are revicwved ut each balunce sheet dale to determine whether there is any indication of impairment.
1f any suich indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

The recoverable amount of assets is the greater of their net realisable valuc and valuc in use. In assessing value in usc, ;hc
estimuted future cash flows are discounted to their present value using & pre-tax discount rate thet retlects curvent murket
assessments of the time value of moncy and the risks specific lo the assets.

Impairment is recognised in the income Slatement whenever the carrying amounl of an asset o its cash-gencrating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount. Where an impuirment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the assct (or cash-
generating unit) is increascd 1o the rovised estimale of its recoverable amount, but so thal the increased carrying amount docs
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
ciash-gencrating unil) in prior years. A reversal of an impairtment loss is recognised immédiately in profit or loss, unless the
relevatit asscl is carried al a revalued amount, in which ease the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
ncirease.

Financial agsets aud liabilitics

Financial assets and liabilitics arc recognised in the Group's balance sheet when the Group becomes parfy to the contractuial
provisions ol the instrument,

Financial assets und liabilities. are inilially measured ot fair value, Transuction costs thet are directly attributable io the
acquisition or issué of tinancial assets and financial fiabilities (other than financiul assets and financial iabilitics at fair value
through profit and loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financinl sssels or (inancial liabilities, as
appropriale, on initial recognition. 1n the case of loans not at a market ratc of interest, the financial asset or liubility is
meusured, initially, at the pregent value of the Tuture cash flow discounted at a market rate of Interest for a similar debt
instrument and subscquently at amortised cost,
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Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. Significant accounting policies (continucd)
Financia! assets: Lonans and receivables

‘I'rade reccivables, loans und otlier receivables thut have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an aclive
market ave classified as *loans und receivables’. Loans and receivables ave measured al amortised cost using the effective
intercst method, less any impairment. Interest income is recognised by applying the effzctive interest rate, excepl for shorts
lerm receivables when ihe recognition of interest would be immaterial,

The Group derecognises a financial assel unly when the contractual rights to the cash (lows [rom the asset expire, or when
it transfers the finuncial agset and substantially all the visks and rewards of ownership of the gsset to another entily.

Finaneial liabilitics: Borrowings and paysbles

Other financial liabilities, including burowings, are initinlly measured at fair value, net of (ransaction costs. Other financial
Jiabilitics are subsequently measured at smortised cost using (he cffective interest method, with finance costs recognised
over the relevant period, The éffective interest rate is the ate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through
the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter periad, to the nct carrying amount on initial
recognition, The Group derecognises financial labilities when, and only when, the Group's obligations are discharged,
cancelled or they expire.

Provisions

Provisions ure recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) 45 a result of o pasl event, it is
probable thal the Group will be required to setile that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation. The amount recognised as 8 provision is (he best estimate of the. consideration required to settle the present
obligation ut the balance sheet date, tuking into account. the risks and uncertainties survounding the obligation. Where »
provision is measurcd using the cash flows cstimated to scttle the present obligation, its cariying amount is the present value
of (hose-cash flows. ' '

Gavernment grants

In the prior year in the Uniled Kingdom, the Company recognised an unconditional government grant relaled to the
Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme when the grant becomes receivable, Government grant revénues are netted oft against

cosis.

In the prior year in the United States, thc Company recognised an unconditivnal goveinment grant related to Employec
Retention Credit (ERC), a refundable credit for 70% of qualitying wages, paid by an cligible employer, to employces, fiom
January through to June 2021, Eligible wages included vacation, holiday, sick and uny other wages paid when the employce
was not performing a service, up to the tirst $0,000 of wages, resulting in a maximum credit ol"$7,000 per employee, per
quarier (Q1 & Q2 of 2021).

In France, in (he prior yeae, under the ‘Partial Aclivity Scheme’ 70% of employees gross swlory was covercd by the
government, betwéen January to. April, afier which 60% was covered until December 2021, this subsidy was capped te al a
monthly salury of' €4,454 per employec,

In Italy, in the prior ycar, up to 90% of wage costs were borie by the government, The scheme was in place belween January
and October 2021; but wilh a cap of € 1,128 on remuncration not greater than € 2,149, and 4 cap of €1,355 on remuneration
exceeding this cap.

in the United Kingdom, in the prior year, the government furlough scheme reimburscd 80% of wages, up to maximum of
£2,500 per person until June 2021, after which the level of reimbursement fell, from 70% in July to 60% in August and

September.

The Company did not access Covid19 wage subsidies during the currenl year,
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Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

4, Critical nccounting judgements and key sources of estimntion uncertainty

In the application of the Group's accaunling policies, which ire described in note 3, the directors are required 16 make
Judgements, cslimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities thut ave not readily apparent from
ather sources. The estimates and ussociated asswinptions are based on historical expericnee and other factors (hat are
considered 1o be relevant. Actual resulls may differ from these estimates.

Critical accounting policies where judgements or estimations are necessavily applied are summarised below.,

Investment property and property, plant and cquipment

Property is revalucd annually which requires an assessment ol cach property’s future earnings and the choice of an
appropriate discount rate. The divectors oblain valuation advice from prolessional valuers (see note 17 and 18),

Leases
The incremenial borrowing rate used for newv [¢ases is based on SONIA plus an eslimated visk premium.
hnpairment

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired on an annual basis. Other non-current assets arc (ested for impairment
il there ure indicators of impairment. Impairment testing requires an estimate of future cash flows und the choice of an
uppropriate discount rate (see note 15).

Depreciation and residual values

The Group reviews the assct lives and associated residual values of property, plant and equipment annually und have
concluded thul asset lives and tesidual values ave appropriate (see note 17).

tncome and deferred tax

Signilicant judgement is involved in determining the Company’s provision for taxation. There are certain transactions and
computations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Company
recognised liabilities for expected tax issucs based on lhe estimate of whether additional tuxes will be due. Where the tax
oulcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initislly recognised, such ditferences will impact the income
tax and delerred tox provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

Deferred lax assels gre recognised for all uitused tax losses to the extent that it is prabable that future laxable profit will be
available, against which the losses can be utilised. Signilicant management judgement is required to determine the amount
of deferred tax assets that cun be rceognised. This is based upon a number of Factors including the cxpected timing of the
reversal of the deductible temporary differences, the extent and expected timing of the reversal of any temporary differences,
the impact of any future proposed reorganisation activities and the level of future taxable profits (see notes 13 and 23}).

Defined benefit pension plan

The cost of defincd benelit pension plans and the present value of the pension obligation ave deterimined using actuarial
valuations. An a¢tuprial valuation involves making various assumptions. These-include the determination of the discount
vate, future salary increases. mortality rates and future pension increases. Due to the complexity of the valuation, the
underlying assumptions and its long term natwe, a defined benefit obligation is highly sensitive to changes in these
assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed al each reporling date (see note 37). '
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Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

5. Revenue

An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

2022 2021
£000 £000
Hotel management and operations revenue 433,903 246,065
Property investment revenue 16,204 17,242
450,107 263,307
6. Geographical analysis of revenue, operating profit and net assets
Revenue Operating Profit Net Assets
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
£°000 £000 £000 £000 £°000 £000
Hotel Management and
Operations _ _ v , N _
USA 155,062 97,971 41,250 42,330 752,479 386,418
Europe 193,682 83,594 37,175 (2,694) 228,033 163,906
United Kingdom 85,159 64,500 (11,423) (20,76 1) 311,895 314,592
433,903 246,065 67,002 18,875 1,292,407 864,916
Property investment: o ‘ o
USA 16,204 17,242 (25,219) 14,012 170,622 214,614
450,107 263,307 41,783 32,887 1,463,029 1,079,530
All the above derive from continuing operations.
7. Unrealised (loss)/p'roﬁt on properties.
' 2022 2021

£000 £000

Unrealised (loss)/profit on revaluation of investment property (32,191) 6,370
Unréalised profit on revaluation of hotel property 16,277 42,762
Unrealised (loss)/profit on properties (15,914) 49,132
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Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

8. Operating profit

Operating profit is stated after charging/(crediting):
Auditors’ remuneration

Fees payable to the company ] 1udltors for the audit of the company’s annual ﬂnancnal

~statements —_— - — ————— .

Fees payable to the company’s auditors and their associates for other services to the Group:

The audit of the companys subsidiaries

Total audit fees:
Advisory services
Total non-audit fees:.

Total auditors’ remuneration:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets
Amortisation of right of use assets.
chtal under operating leases:
Receivable regarding hotel properties: Land and buildings
COntmgent rentals receivable regardmg hotel properties: Land and bunldmgs
Loss/(Gam) on disposal of fixed assets *

9. Staff costs

Directors’ remuneration -
Directors’ fees paid to ultimate parent

Rcmuneraildn of hu'gheSt pald dlréctor

2022 2021
£000 £000
239 191
432 355
671 546
203 188
203 188
874 734
23,016 22235
1,431 1,621
7,578 6,849
G721)  (2258)
(445)  ° (75)
308 (322)
2022 2021
£000 £'000
120 120
50 50

No directors are paid salaries or have accrued any retirement benefits under either a defined benefit scheme or under a money

purchase scheme (20213 None).
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Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

9. Stafl costs (continued)

Average monthly number of pérsons employed excluding dirvectors,
Operations

Sales and marketing
Administration

Staffcosts during the year exeluding divectors

‘Wages and snlaric;"
Social sceurity costs:
Other pensions costs

10. tuvestment income

{nterest Feceivable un:
Bank deposits

33

2022, 2021
No. Na.,
2,426 2,052
157 157
370 502
3953 2,711
2022 2021
£°000 £2000
129,443 93314
28,126 22,918
7,295 6,443
164,860 122,675
2022 2021
£'000 £'000
1o 7
1o 7
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Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the consoliclated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

11, Finnnce costs

Finance costs

juterest on related party loans

Penglon deficit nct chaige

Interest payable expenst on right of use essels
Others ’ )

Forcign exchange loss on loans.

12 Finance income

Forcign exchange gain on loans

13. Tax un proﬁt for the year

Totil current yesr tax charge o
Adjustments in respect of prior ycars
Foreign tax

Total current toX chargé/(oredit)

Total :dcférred tax charge/(credil)
Adjustments in respéct of prior years

Deferred (a% charge/tredit (note 23)

Total €ax chacge

UK. corporation tax is calculated al 19% (2021:19 %) ol the éstimated taxable profit for the year.

"T'akation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rales prevailijig-in thé réspective jurisdictions,

16

2022 2021
-£'000 £:000
5,785 6,493
52 108
3,660 3,668
240 170
15,069 -
24,806 10439
2022 2021
£000 £'000
. (4,338)
2022 202)
£'000 £7000
6,819 293
T . (8)
] ,153
680 radl
(1,985) 10,799
(2,165) (926)
(4,150) 9,873
h314

2,669



R

R

(IR pr———

Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

13. ‘Tax on prolit/loss for the year (continued)

The tolal tax expense for the year can be reconciled 1o the profit/ioss per the statement of comprehensive income as follows:

2022 2021

£000 £000
‘Profit befove tax 17,087 26,793
Tax baged on the UK corpoialion lax rate of 19% (2021:19 %) 3,247 5,001
Tax effect of expenses thut are not deductible in delermining taxable profit 4,524 1,120
Movement duc 1o changes in tax rates (2,112) (3.390)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidisries operating in other jurisdictions 1,891 3,146
Non-taxablé income (3,106) (2,562)
WHT suffered 81 47
Local tanes 833 (78)
Other nel permanent differences § 291
Adjustments in respect of prior years (2,164) (930)
Change in unrccognised deferred (ax ussets (533) 8,579
Total tax charge/(eredit) for the year 2,669 11,314

Finanee No. 2 Bill 2021, which became substanlially enacted on 24 May 2021. increased the main rate of UK corporation
tax 1o 25%, with efteet from 1 April 2023, Delerred tuxes at the balonce shect date have been measured using this enucted

rate and reflected in these Minancial stalements.

2022 2021
£'000 £'000
Deferved tax
Arising on income and expenses recognised in other compreheénsive income
Revaluation of propertics 93,392 71,732
Defined benefit liability (8) 837
Total income tax recogaised in other comprehensive income 93,384 72,569

“The effect of delerred tax only current year movements primarily refers 1o the recoguition of defred fas assets arisiing fiom

current year trading losses.

14. Bxchange differences relating to compouents of other comprehénsive income

This comprises amounts represenling the movenient in values o ' revatuation surpluses and deficits of properiies held in

foreign countries ii their local currcncies, when translated into sterling at the inancial yeor eid.

37



hew v e el Z. oae.Ty

Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

15. Couodwilt

Cost

£'000

As at | January 2021 24,418
Foieign exchange movements (3.022)
As at 31 December 2021 21,396
Foreign cichange movements 2,225

As at 31 December 2022 23,621

Goodwill acquired in a business coimbination is allocated, at acquisition, to the cash generaling units (CGUS) (hat are
expeeted Lo beiiehit (rom that business combination. The carrying amount of goadwill had been allocated as follows:

2022 2021 2020

£000 £'000 £'000

Hotel Plaza Athenee, France 11,988 11,353 12,159
Hotel Eden, Ttaly 11,632 10,043 12,259
23,621 21.396 24418

Al the ycar end, gondwill was reviewed for impairment in .u.culdanc:u with 1AS. 36 Impuirment of Assets. A value in use
wias calculated on the basis of discounted future cash Nows ar |smg in"each relevant CGU, which is then compared {0 the
carrying valuc of the CGU lo determine il impairment has occurred, Cash tlow lorecasts devived from business plans over
a 5 year period, tollowed by 5 years assuming a-long term growth rate of 2. 5% (2021:1.99%) per annwin were used, Discount:
rates 6f 5.05 % (2021 16.29%) lor Holel Plaza Athenge, and 6.42% (2021:6.81%) for Hotel Eden were used to amive at the,
value in usc for each of the CGUs. The discouit rales applicd arc based on advice from external valuers. The Dircctors
consider the assumplions to be rcasonable based on the hisloric performanec of each CGU and 1o be realistic in light of
¢conomic and mdusu'y forecasts.

The calculation of value in usc for cich CGU is most sensitive 1o the principal assumptions of discount rate and growth

rates. Sensitivity anulysis hes been performed on the calculations and confirms thai no reasonably possible changes in the
assumphom would exceed their recoverable amount for-any of the CGUs.

a8
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Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial stateraents (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

16 bthe,r intsangible assets

Compauter QOther
suftwaye Intangibles ]‘oml
£'000 £000 £000
Cost
AT Januay 2021 17,165 §91 18,056
Additions 657 - 657
Fareign exchange (110) - (+10)
AL 31 Decernber 2021 17,712 891 18,603
At 1 January 2022 17,712 894 18,603
Reclassification (369) 369 -
Additions 803 - 803
Disposals (336) - (336)
foreign exchange 918 70 988
At 3] Deéember 2022 18,728 T1,330 20,058
Accumulated amortisation )
A January 2021 (11,842) - (11,842)
Chargit (1,621) . (1,621)
Fortign exchange T (227 - (227)
At 3 Decembur 2024 (13,690) - (13,690)
AL L Jununiy 2022 (13;690) - (13,690)
Charge (1,846) - (1,846)
Disposhis 336 - 336
Forcign cxehange (636) - (636)
At 31 December 2022 (15,836) (15,836)
Carrying amount . )
At 31 December 2022 2,892 1,330 4,232
At 31 December 2021 4,022 891 4,913

The amortisation charge and foreign éxchahge movement s included: in administralion expenses in the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income.
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Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

7. Propeity, plaut and equipment

Cost ov valuation
Al [ January 2021
Capilal additions
Translers
Disposalshwvritc-o(Ts
Revaluation
Foreign exchange

At 31 December 2021

Capital additions
Transfers
Disposals/vrite-olTs
Revaluation
Fareign exchaiige

At3 !. December 2022

Accunulated depreciation

Al T Junuory 2021

Charge
Disposals/wiile-offs
Revaluation
Foreign exchange

A(31 December 2021
Charge

Transfers
Disposalsiwrite-otts

Revaluation
Foreign ¢xehinge

At 31 December 2022

Carrylng amount Net hook

value
AL 3} Decermber 2022

AL 31 (_)ecember 2021

Fixtures, Assets under
Land and Piant and fittings and construction

huildings machinery equipment £000 Total
£'000 £000 £'000 £2000
1,447,545 162,489 271,309 5,442 1,893,185
1,199 1,436 6,209 2,274 1118

. 4,519 1,138 (5,657) -
(359) (120) (1,960) . (2439)
239,538 - - - 239,538
(42,150) (6,649) (10,303) (288) (59.390)
1,645,773 162,075 272,393 L771 2,082,012
8,120 4,314 40,617 20,285 73,336
o 712 1,190 (1,902) -
\ - 15,590) (49,751) . (65,341)
364,638 . - - 364,638
95,885 6,438 14,682 233 117,235
2,114,416 157,946 279,131 20,387 2,571,880
(407) (t11,627) (217,508) - (329,042)
(969) (10,400) (10,866) - (22,235)

27 (1o 1,532 - 1,669

694 - . - 694

218 4,227 7,613 - 12,058
R0 (117.190)  (215.229) . (336,856)
(1,096) 9,229) (12,691 . (23,016)

- () () . ()

- 15,590 49,758 - 65,348,

1,045 ) 1 - 1,046

i) (5,556) (10,570) . (16,116)
(478) (116,386) (192,732) . (309,596)
2,113,938 41,560 $6,399 20,387 2,262,284
1,645,336 @,ssé 53,164 1771 1,745,156
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Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

17. Property, plant and cquipment (continued)

“The net book value of land and buildings comprise:

2022 2021
£000 £'000
Fieshold 2,113,719 1,645,116
Long leagchold 220 220

2:113.939 1645336

‘The Group's freehold land and buildings are stated at their revalued amounts; being the open market fair value at the date of
revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent uceumulated impairment losses: The open market
fair value measurements of the CGroup's land and buildings were revalued il 31 December 2022 by CBRE, independent
valuers not eonnected with the Group who are qualificd for the purpose of the valuation in accordance with the RICS Red
Boak.

The apen market fair value of the frechold land and buildings was determined using the discounted cash flows approach
which involves applying a yield und discouil ratc to the cash Nows. There has been no change to the valuation technique
during the year.

‘The Group's [rechald laid and buildings have been clussiticd as Level 3 wilhin the fair value hierarchy as @t 31 Decembei-
2022.

The senisitivitics regarding the principn) essumptions used to value land and butldings arc set out below:

Assumption Change in assumption % Impact on valuation

[ncrease Decrease
£000 £000

Discount rate {ncrease by +1% 226,000

Discount rate Decrease by -1% 158,000

Cupitalisation rate [ncreas¢ by +1% 126,000

Capitalisation rate Decrease by -1% 696,000

Cash flow Increase by +5% 150,000 ‘

Cash Nlow Deerease by -5% ' 150,000

4]
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Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

17, Property, plant and cquipment (continued)

There are mler-retaunnshlps between all these unobservable inputs as they are determined by market conditions. The
existence of an increase in more than one unobseivable input would be to mngmly the 1n1pucl an the valuation, The impact
on the valuation will be mitigated by the interrclationship of two unobservable inpuis moving in opposile directions e.g: an
increase in cash flows may be olfsct by an incrense in yield, resulting in no net impact on the valuation, '

At 31 December 2022 the Company had fand and buildings other than investment property carricd al hisiorical Cosi 1ess™
accupulated dupreciation and accumulpted impairment losses, their carrying amount would have been approximately £1
billion (2021: £} billion).

The revaluation surplus is disclosed in note 30. The revaluation surplus arises in subsidiaries and cannot be distributed to.
the parent duc {0 legal restrictions in the countries of incorporation.

18, tuvestment property )

2022 2021

£'000 £‘009

Fair value: .
At January . 193,782 183,048
Additions 3,050 1,867
Revaluation ’ ‘ (32,191 6,370
Fareign exchange translation difterences 22,490 2,497
AL31 Decemher 187,010 193,782
W e -’-‘—_—-.'=

Lease incentives within deblors (note 21) 4911 4,045
Fair value pcr valuation report 192,042 T197.8 27
Se=—aam —femp=—=

Al of the Group’s investment prupemes are overseus ficehold propértles. The comparable cost of the investinent properties
acco:dmg to the hislorical cost convenl)on ul current e\(.hﬂngt: rates was £158 §85,085 (2021: £139,372 882)
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Dorchester Group Limited
Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

18, luvestment m'opéyty (cuntinued)

"The fuir value of the Group’s investment property at 31 December 2022 has been amvived al on the besis ol an apen maikes
valuation carried out at that date by CBRIZ (USA) on one property and JLL on another property, both of whom are
independent valuers not connected with the Group. The valuations conform to International Valuation Standards, The fair
valie was determined based on lhe income capitalisation approach which involves applying a yield to rgntal income sireams.
Inpuls include yield, curent rent and estitmated rental values. In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and
best use ol tHe propertics is their current use. There has been nv change o the valuation teelnique during the year,

The investment propertics have been classified as Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy as al 31 December 2022. There
were no (ransfers info/out of level 3 in the yewr (2021: nil). All movements are Liken to the statement of Lompuhcn&w;

mqmmc

'the sensitivitics regarding the principal ussimptions used to value the investment properties ar set out below:

Assumn ption Chunge in assumption % Impact on valuation

Increase Decrense
£'000 £'000

Discount rale . Increase by +1% 15,875

Discount rate Decrease by -1% 16,416 )

Capitalisnlion rute Incrensc by +1% 20,733

Cupitalisation rute Deerease by -1% 28,015

Cash flow {nerease by +35% 2,393

Cash flow ‘Decrease by -3% 2,393

There are intér- |elauonsh|ps between all these unobservable inputs as they aré deterinined by markgl conditions. The
existence of an increase in more than anc unobservable input would be to magnify the impsct on the valuation. The impact
on the valualion will be mitigated by the mlerrclauonshxp 6F Lwo- unobservable inpiils moving in opposite directions c.g. an
incrense in rent may he offset by an increase in yicld, resulting in no netimpact on the valuation,

The property rental income carned by the Group trom its investment propeity, all of which is leased oul undér operaling
leascs, amounied to £16,204,343 (2021: £17,242,000), Divect upenalmg e\pt.mes (including répairs and muintenance)
arising on the investment property, all of which generaled rental income in the ycar, amounted o £9,232,715
(2021:£9,763 ,513). The Group has committed to C'lplhﬂ expenditure on- its investment propertics over the next year three
years of £2 1793,000 (2021: £12,610 000)
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

19. Subsidiaries

¢

The company and the Group have investments in the following subsidiary undertakings:

Su bsidlnry underinkings

Dorihester Hote! Limited
The Dorchester I.imited
Dorchester Services Limited
Coworth Park Limited
Meurice Limited

Principe di Savola Limited
Hoted Plaza Athcnee Limited

Kiava Holdings 1.L.C.
Sajahtery lne

Aman In¢

Raqib ne

Meurice-SpA

Principe di'Savein srl
Hote! Eden srl

Hotel Plaza Athenee SA

Pluza Athenee Holdings SA

Dorchester Serviees Ine

Dorchiestér Collzction fapan KK

20. Inventories

Consumables
Goods for résale

Principal netivity

{lotel operations
Finaiee company
Hotel management
Hotel management
Hotel investimem
Hotel invesunent
Hotel investinent

Hotel upsrations
Hotel operntions
Investment property

tveshinent property
Hotel operations
Hotel operntions
Hotel aperptions
Hatel operations
Hotel investmient

Dormant
Hotel management

Principal place af
business

Unlted Kingdem
Unfied Kingdon
United Kingdom
United Kinacdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
Uniicd Kingdom

USA
USA
USA.
USA
laly
luly
haly

France
Franee

USA
Japan

Sharelwtiing and
percentnge vollug

Registered office Address vights
53 Park Lane, London, WiA 1QA 100% (Direet)
33 Park Lane, London, WIA 1QA 100% (Dircct)
3 Tilney Street, Landon, WiK 1BQ 100% (Lireet)
3 Tilney Streer, London, WiK 1BQ 100% (Direct)
3 Tilney Streel, London, WiK 1BQ 100% (Birect)
3 Tilney Sireet, London, WIK IBQ 100% (Direct)
3 ‘Tilney Stiewt, Landon, WIK 1) 100% (Direct)
701, Stone Canyon Road, Los Angeles, !
Cualilomia 90077 100% (Indirect)
9641, Sunser Boulevard, Beverly Mills,

Califomia 90210 100% (Direct)
874 Waulkeér Road, Suite C, Dover (Kem

Comuy). Delawnrc 19904 100% {Indiiect)
474 Walker Rond, Suite C, Dover (Kent

Couhiy), Delaware 199014 100% (Indiréct)
Vit XX Settembre 3, Turin 100% (Indivect)
Pinzza detia Repubblice 17, Milan 100% (Indirect)
Vio Ludovisi 49 Reine 100% (Direct)
25 avenue Montaigne, 75008 Paris 100% (Indirect)
23 1027, avenue Montaigne, 75008 Paris 160% (Indirect)
874 Walker Road, Suite C, Dover (Kent
County), Delaware 19904 100% (Indirect)
3.10-10, Shivokandai, Mingta-ki 100% (Indirect)
Tokyo, 108-0074

2022 2021
£'000 £'000
3,548 2,728
8,225 6,672

11,773 9,400

There is no material differcnce hetween (he replaceinent cost of stocks and their balance sheet amounts.

‘The cost of inventorics recognised as an expense diring the year in respect of continuing operations was £36m (2021: £23m).
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Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

21. Trade and other reccivables

Due within one year

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Trade debtors 23,831 15415
Provision for bad debts (1,521) {1,331
Net tracle debtars 22,310 14,084
Other debtors 648 3,870
Qverseas corpuration tax receivable 4,554 4,366
VAT ) ‘ 449
Fellow subsidiries 2,309 (213)
Invesiment property lease incentivies (see note 18) 4911 4,045,
Prepayments and accrucd income 11,362, 17711

Total 46,094 34,312

The Group applies the simplified approach, using a provision matrix, to measure the expected credit fosses for ade
veccivables, To measure expeeled credit losses an & colleGtive basis, trade receivables sve grouped based on similar credit
risk und ageing. The expected logs rates are based on the Group®s historical credit logs experience and ave adjusted for current

and torward-looking information on macroccohomic fictors affecting the Group’s customers,

Trade debtors that ave not Impaired

The ageing analysis of wade debtors that are iteither individually nor callectively considered to be impaired are as fotlows:

2022 2021

£'000 £000
Neither past due por impaived 10,400 8,009
{,ess thun 1 month past due 5,982 3,483
I to 3 months past due 3,526 747
Muare than 3 months past due 2,402 1,845
Total 22,310 14,084

The Group belicves that no impainnent sllowance is necessary in respect of trade deblors as these arc substantially companies

with good collection Lrack recard énd no recent history of defaull, hence the expected ciedit loss is not material.

Due after more than onc year

No prepay nents or acerued income duc after onc year (2021: Nil),

45
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Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the consolidatqd financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

22, Financial linbilities

fncluded within current linbilities

Loang from pacent undertakings:

Unsceured, subordinated and interest fvee
Unsecured, subordinated and interest bearing

(nchultd within non-curvent lnb|llms
Loans trom fellow subsidiary uudertakings:
Unsecured, subondumted and interest frce
Exiernal Loans

Total Borrowings

2022 2021
£000 £'000
22,709 22,709
20,997 18.757
43,706 41,466
A== =sems===
379,552 385,345
201,620 182,223
70,168 16,622
651,340 584,190
695,046 625,656

The interest bearing loans from the pavent company and fetiow subsidiary underiakings of the Brungi lavestment Agency
("BIA™) beav intercst at both lixed and flouling rates, The weighted average year end interest rate for these Ioans was

3:26% (20311 2 .88%).

Duu ing the ycm the Group took out a $66 OUO 000 loan wnh a seven ycm tcrm and an mlen.sl rate or s, |7%, to support the

Covid-19 pmdcnuc wuh quppmt from the governmenh af France and lmly

Loans maturing betwéen:

Within | year
I 10 2 years amount to

Interest free luans matuving between 1-2 years have beeh discounted al a market rite of interest of 4.75%.

46

2022
£'000

43,700

651;340

695,046

Y

2021
£'000

41,466
584,190
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Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

23. Deferved tax

“The Tollowing are Lhe major deferred tax asscis and liabilities rceognised by (he Group and movements during the current

and prior reporting year:

Land and Land and Other
buildings huildings temporary
Accelerated Pension  Tax losses  differences Tatal
tax Capital £000 £000 £'000 £'000
tépreciation Gains ’
£'000 £'000

(Liability)/asset at (160.642) (96,810) 1,779 77,451 (2,497) (130,719)
1 January 2021
Credit/(charge) lo 38,950 (42,650) (37 (10,850) 4,714 (9.873)
profit or loss
Credit (o other - (72,373) (549) - 3935 (72,367)
comprehensive income .
Exchange differences 8,965 (2,428) (8) (2,949) 4472 4,022
At 31 December 2024 (112,727 (214,261) 1,145 63,652 3,054 (259,137
{Charge)eredit to (1,799) 6,272 (325) (371) 573 4,150
profit or loss )
(Charge)/oredil (o - (93,392) 8 - - (93,384)
comprehensive income )
Exchange differences (10,032) (10,919) - 3,318 364 (17.269)
At 31 December 2022 (312,300) 3.991 (365,640)

(124,558)

828 66,399

B ]

e e -

am—

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of lax losses of £100,852,000 (2021: £95,818,000)-as it is not cohsidered
prubable that theve will be future taxuble profits nvailable against which to offset them. These losses principally relate to
laly in which therc are trapped losses of £93,667,000 (2021: £88,711,000) which cannot curcently be utilised by the Group.

No defericd tax liability is recognised on temporary differences of £696m (2021: £377m) relating to the unremitted earnings

of overseas subsidiarics as the Group is sble 16 control the timings of the reversal of these temporary diffcrences and it is
probuble that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

24, Trade and other payables

Due within one year

Amounts owed to ultimate paient undertakings
Trade ereditors

Other creditors

Accrunls,deferred income and guest deposits
Capital accruals,

VAT and other sales taxcs

PAYE and other payroll laxes

25. Currenl tax Habilities

Amounts due for overseas comoration tax

48

2022 2021
£'000 £'000
49:218 42,938
21,725 15,124
2,983 1,359
72,221 48,659
1,885 311
1,456 3551
6,084 5,129
155,572 7071
2022 2021
£000 £'000
2,236 -

2',2?58
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Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

26. Provisions

£'000
Balance at | Janvary 2021 2,342
Utilisation: (573
Charged to congolidated income statement 263
Foreign exchange gain (98)
Balance at 31 December 2021 1,934
Utilisation (343)
Charged lo cansolidated income statement 627
Foreigii exchange loss 149
Balance at 31 December 2022 2,367

These provisions relate to potential payments:in respect of a number of outstanding claims in the European and US hotels
and are analysed below. it is expected thal the provisions will be settled between one to two ycars al the sinounts provided,

Aualysis of provisions at 31 December 2022

£2000
Legal feés regarding employment matters 855
Other ' 1,512
Balance at 31 December 2022 2,367
R
27. Share capital
Called up share capital: 2022 2021
: ‘ £:000 £:000
Autherised: )

200,000,000 Ordinary shares of £1.gach 200,000 200,000
2022 2021
3 . ) ) £'000 £000

Allotted, called up and Tully paid: d
199,710,427 Ordinary shares.of £1 each 199,710 199,710

28. Share preminm

Movcments in share premium are included in the consolidated statemenit of chaniges in equity on page 19.

29. Ca;')itnl reserve

Maveinents on capital veserve arc stiown in the consolidaled Stalement of changes in cquity on page 19. The reserves

represent the capital contributions arising lrom the lair value adjustments Lo the interest fice louns mude to the Group. During
the year the capital reserve amount rose by | 1.83m,
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Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

30, Revaluntion rescrve
Land and

buildings

£000

Balance at | January 2021 453,338
Revaluation decrease on land and buildings 197,386
Deferred tax credit arising on fevaluation of land and buildings (71.732)
Balance at 31 December 2021 578992
Revaluation decrease on land and buildings 357,072
Deferred tax credit arising on revaluation of land and buildings (93.392)
Balance at 31 December 2022 842,672

AETT= =N

31. Merger reserve _
Merger rescrve comprises amounts recorded under meiger uccounting upon the acquisition of Sajahiera Inc and Kava
Holdings LLC. Movements in merger veserve wee included in the consolidatéd statement of changes in equity on page 19.

32. Teanslation reserve

The wanslation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising tront the translution of the finaneial stuteinents of
foreign operations. Movements on (ranslation reserve arc shown in the cansolidated statement of changes in equity on page
19, '

33. Retained carnings
Retained earnings comprise the cumulative net gains and losses vecognised in. the consolidated Statement of comprehensive
income,

34, Dividends paid
No dividends were paid in 2022 (2021 nil).

35. Notes to the cash flow statement

Cash and cash equivalents 2022 2021
£:000 £'000
Cash and bank balances 174,039 95,78}

171,039 95,781

Cash and cash equivalenis compiise cash-and short-Lerm bank deposits with an original maturity of thice months or less. net
of'outstanding bank overdrafls, The carrying amount of these assets is approximately equal to their fair value,

Non-cash ransactions i

During the year most of the inlergroup interest payuble of £5,785,000, as well ns intergroup ledsc liabilities of £7,817.000
were not paid; bul were instead added 1o the existing balance ol intergroup liabilities. Only £1,320,000 of the current year
interest; and £1,793,000 of the current year lense linbility were poid. During the year £2,074,813 of outstanding intercst
fiabilities, and £6,494,000 of Icase liabititics relating to envlier periods, were paid. The majority of the residual moyement
telated to loreign exchange moviements. ‘The residual balance related to forcign exchange movements,
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Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

35. Notes tu the cash flow statentent (.Cm,n'immd)

As at.l January 2022 (note 22)
Cash fows
- New thied paity fosns
- New intcrgroup loans
Non cnsh flows .
" - Fairvalue changes
- forex
- loans capitafisation

As‘t 31 December-2022 (note 22)

A$ at-1 Sanuiry 2021 (note 22)
Cush flows. .
- New third parly lodns
= New intergroup loans
Non ¢ash flows
- Fait valiie changes
- forex ’
- loans.reclassified as now-curient

As at 31 December 2021 (note 22)

Non-current Current Total
_ louns and loaus and
borrowings  horrowings
2022 2022 )
£000 £'000 £'000
584,190 41,466 625,656
55,437 - 55,437
10,811 : 10;811
(85) - (85s)
987 2,241 3,228
651,340 43,707 695,047
Non-current Cuyrent 19ans Total
loans and ‘and
boriowings  borrowings
2021
£'000
2021 £100
£:000
686,566 41,229 727,795
4,139 . 4,139
7,686 - 1,686
7.877 L 7,877
(43,973) 23 (43;736)
(_78,!05) - (78,105)
584,190 41,466 625,656

si



Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

36. Leases

Right-ol-Use Assets

At January 2021

Additions

Amortisalion

Disposals

Variable lease payment adjustment
Foreign exchange movements

At 31 Decemiber 2021

Right-of-Use Asscts

Al L January 2022

Additions

Amortisation

Disposuls

Vuriable lease payment adjustment.
Foreign exchange movements

AL 31 December 2022

Leasc Liabililies

At ] Jinuary 202}
Reclassilications

Additions

Interest expense

Variable lease payment adjustment
Lease puyments

Foreign exchange movements
Disposuls

AL3 1 December 2021

o

™~

Plant,
Land and machinery
buildings  and vehicles Total
£'000 £'000 £'000
99,337 387 99,724
3,536 374 3o
(6,407) (442) (6,849)
(477) - 477y
(2,394) - (2,394)
282 - 282
93,877 39 94,196
Plant,
Land and machinery
buildings  and vehicles Total
£000 £'000 £000
93.877 319 94,196
4,837 129 4,966
(7,248) (330) (7.578)
(5} - (5
- 4 4
2,047 4 2051
93,508 126 93,634
Plant,
Land and  machinery and’
buildings vehicles T'otal
£000 £'000 2000
(113,288) (399) {113,687
(54 54 -
(3,536) (374) (3,910)
(3,611) (34) (3,645)
3,183 6 3,189
3,800, 239 9,043
(256) . (256)
561) - s6l
(108,195) (508) (108,703)
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Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

36. Leases (continued)

Lease Liabilities

Al | January 2022
Additions
Inierest expense
Variable lease payment edjustment
l.ease payments
Foreign Exchange

At 31 December 2022

Lease Linbilities

Amounts.due within one yégli' (current)
Amounts Yue atter more than ‘one year (non-curreint)

Niatu_rlty Ananlysis

Tlhie Group s p lessce
Maturity analysis- contracival undiscourited

Operating leases which expire:
Within one year

Between one aiid five years
Afer five years

Plant,
Landand  mnachinery .
buildings and vehicles Total
£'000 £'000 £'000
(108.196) (507)  (108,703)
(3,113) (129 (3,242)
(3,365) (20) (3,585)
10 (6) 4
2,579 238 7817
(1,246) (264) {1,310
(108,531) (688)  (109,219)
2022 2021
£'000 £'000
5,834 6,012
103,385 102,591
109,219 108,703
2022 2021
Land and ) Land
buildings Other and Other
£000  £000 builkngs  £000
£'000
9,664 725 10,355 560
32,460 837 32,983 08
118,394 < 119,872 -
160,522

1.562

163210 1,068

The Group leuses hotel properties as well as office premises in the United Kingdom and France, A aumber ot land and
building lease cammitments ar¢ subjeet to indesation and in some circumstances there arc variable lease payments thal are

bused on the hotels® performance.,



Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the consolidated tinancial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

36. Leases (continucd)

The Group as a lessor

At the balance sheet dpte, the Group had contracted with tenants for the following fiture minimum lease puynients on
operating leases for land and buildings:

Hatel properties

Opcrating leases which cxpire: 2022 2021
£'000 £:000
Within one ycar 1315 680
Between one and five years 2,098 1,323
Alfler five years 27 46
3440 2,049

Inyestment propcrties
Opérating lcascs which expire: 2022 2021
£000 £°000
Within one yeur 2,058 1
Between one and five yeurs 14,350 15,359
Alter five years 51451 48,742

67,859 64,112

37. Retiremént benefit schemes

The Group operates two pension schimes in the UK. One is a defined benefit scheme; which is closed to new entrants, and
the other is a defined contribution scheme,

Defined contribution scheme

‘The.company opcdrales a detincd contribution scheme for which the Group is required lo contribule a specificd percentage
of payroll eosts to the relirément benelit schemie to Tund the benetits: The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
relirement benefil scheme is to make the specitied contributions. e pension costcharged for and paid for the yeur amounted
10 £956,613 (2021:.£952,093). )

Defined benefit scheme

2022 2021

£000 £000

UK Pension scheme (see below) 2,530 3,209
Firench stale pension scheme termination indemnily 3,057 2,434
Italisn stale pension scheme termination indemnity 1,102: 1.262
6,689 6,905

Pension urrangements in France and [taly are through the state scheme but the employers have deferred retirement liabilitles
in the form of lermination indemnities.
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Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

37. Retivement benefit sehemes (continued)

Pension scheme in the UK

The company operutes a funded pension scheme in the UK providing benefits hased on final pensionable pay. The policy
for accounting for pensions is intluded in note 3. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the company,
being invesled in investment managemeni funds, The trustees of the pension fund are required by luw to act in the interest
of the fund and of all relevant stakcholders in the scheme. ‘The trustees of the pension fund are responsible for the investment
policy with regard to the assels of the fund.

The pension scheme was closed o future accruul, effective March 313 2021, This resulted in-a curtailment gain which was
recognised in Uhe statement of comprehensive income,

The pension seheme typically exposes the Group to-actuarial risks such as: investinent risk, interest rate risk, mortality risk
and inflation visk. The risk relating to hencflts to be paid to the dependents of scheme members is re-insured by an external
insurance company.

The Scheme holds investments in asset classes, such as equities, which have volatile market values
and while these assels are expected Lo provide the real retims over the long-teym the-shovt-lerm
volatility can cause additional funding (0 be required if deficit enierges.

Investmentt risk

The Scheme's liabilities are assessed using market yields on high quality corporate bonds to
discount the liabilities. As the Scheme holds ussets such as cquities the value of the assets and
liabilitics may not move in the sume way,

Interest rate risk

Mortality risk In the evenl that members live longer than assumed a deficit will emerge in the Scheme.

A significant propoition of the benefits under the Scheme are linked to inflation, Although the
Schemc's assets are cxpected to provide a good hedge against inflation over the long-term,
inovements over the short lerm could fead (o deficits emeiging,

Infintion risk

Qualified actuaries carry out full valuations on a triennial basis, the last one being to April 6 2020, using the projetted unit
method. The assumptions which have the most significamt effect on the results of the valuation are those relating to the rate
of retuen on investments and the rates of increase in salaries and pensions, [t was assumed that the invesiment refurns sould
be 4.85% per annum, that salary increases would average 3.8% per annum and that a propartion of members would withdraw
from service each year other than by retirement.

The pension charge under thig stheme for the ycar had no current service costs (2021: £15,000), and the otal included in
finance cosls was £52,000 (2021(: £108,000). The most recent actuarial valuation showed that the market vilue of the
schemes assets was £ 23,778,000 giving a funding level of 90% (2021: 92%).

Actuarial assiomptions
The principal assumptions used to determine the actuarial present value of benefit obligations and pension costs are detailed
below:

2022 2021

% Y%

Discount rate for plan liabilities 4.9 1.8
Rate of inflation (RP1) 33 3.3
Rate of inflation (CPI) 24" 2.6
Rate of increase i solaries 38 4.0
Rate of increase of pensions in payment 32 34
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Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

37. Retirement benefit schemes (continued)
The weighted average life expectuncy for mortality lables used 10 determine bepefis obligutions arc detailed below:

2022 21
Male Female Male Female
Member age 65 (current life expeclancy) 21.0 23.5 21.0 234
Member age 435 (life expeclancy at age 65) 223 25.0 232 24.9

The sensitivities regarding the privieipal ussumptions used to measnre the scheme liabilities are set ouf below:

Assumption Change In assuniption % tmpact on Scheme Siabllities
Increasc % Decrease %

Discount rate Incrense by 0.5 % 5.1

Discount rate Decrease by 0.5% 5.2

Rate.of inflation Increase by 0.5% 1.7

Ratc of inflation Decycasc by 0.5% 1.5

Rate of morialily Increase by | year 4.4

Rate of mortality Decrease by | year 43

The sensitivity analysis presented above may nul be representative ol the actual change in the detfined benefit obligation as
it is unlikcly that the change in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another us some of the assuimptions may be
correlated.

In presenting the above sensitivily analysis, the present value of the delined benefit obligatioh has been calculated using the
projected unit credit method et the endl of the reporting perivd, which is the same as (hat applied in calculating the defined
benelit liability recognised in the stalement of financial position. There was no change in the methods and assumptions used
in preparing the sensitivity analysis {tom prior years.

Balance sheet disclosure

2022 2021

Fair value  Fair value

£'000 £'000

Equity 3,601 11,290
Liability driven investimenls 5,324 7513
Diversified growth fund 7,844 8,482
Absolute retuen bond Tund 5,318 3,273
Net current assets 1,691 1,832
‘Tola) markel value of nssets 23,778 34,390
Present value of scheme liabititics {26,308) (37.599)
Deficit in the puension plan/pension liabitity: (2,530} ‘ (3,209)

No property oeeupied by, or other assels used by the Group aré held by the scheme. No amounts are included in the scheme's
assets in respeet of shares of the coipany. Virually all equity and debt inslruments have quoted prices in active murkels;
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Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

37. Retivement benefit sehemes (continued)
Amounts recugirised I incomne are as follows:

2022 2021

£000 £'000
Analysis of the amaunt charged to administration cxpenses
Current service cost . (15)
Administration costs {192) (190)
Total charge to administration expenses (192) (205)
Anialysis of the amount chayged to finiance tosts
Expected return on plan assets 615 543
Settiement ¢osts - (248)
Intercst cost on plan liabilitics (6G7) {651)
Ncl charge/credit Lo finance costs (32) (356)
Total charge to income for the year (244) (561)
Amoynts included in other comprehensive income in respect of the definéd benefits plan are as follows:

2022 2021

£'000 £'000
{Losses)/Gains on schume assels in excess of interest (10,792) 1.059
Experience loss arising on plan lisbilities 627) -
(Losses)/Guins from changes (o demographic sssumplions (390) MV
Gains/(lossés) from changes to linanciul assumptions 11,975 2,821
Total actuarial (loss)/gain recognised in other comprehensive income (34) 4,592

The loss on scheme assels in excass of interest of £ 10,792,000 (2021: £1,059,000 gain} is 45.39% (2021: 3.08%) of the
plan assels as at 31 December 2022, The totd] actuarial gaio of £11,975,000 represents 45.5% of the present value of scheme
liabilitics a8 8l 31 Decembur 2022, The.cumulative amount of actuarial gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive
income since the date of transition 1o TFRS is 8 £2,295,034 net loss (2021: £2,295,000 net loss).

Anatysis of mavement in the present value of defined bengfit obligntions

2022 2021

£000 £'000
Asat | lanuary (37,599 (41,550)
Curient sérviee cost - (13)
Member contributions - (N
Interest on pension liabilities (667) 6s)
Benefits paid 1,200 1,043
Actuarial gains arising 10,758 3,333
Amendments - 248
As at 3) December (26.308) (37,599)
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

37. Retirement benefit schemes (continucd)

Analysis of return on plan assets

2022 2021

£'000 £000
Asal 1 Janudry 34,390 33,062
Interest on assets 615 543
Return on plan assets less interest - (10,792) 1,059
Employer conlributions 957 952
Member contributions - ?
Benelits puid (1,200) (1,043)
Administration expenses (192) (190
As at 31 December 23,778 34,390

The Group should fund the cost of the entitlements expected to be carned on a yearly basis. Employees pay o fixed percent
of pensionable salary and (he residual contribution is paid by the entities of the Group. The funding requircments are based
on a local actuarial measurement framesvork. In this framework the discount rate is based on the asséts held by the scheme,
and using caulious estimates of the expected returns rom each asset elass. The cost of henefits is calculated using several
assumplions, and by projecting salaries up to retivemient date. An additional liabitity may stem from aclual experience being
different to these assumptions, in which casc the Group is responsible for pulting in place s recovery plan in order (o addiess
any additional liabilities. ‘Any udditional liabilities arc a debt to the Group.

The average duration of the benefit obligation at the end of the Feporling period is 11 years (2021:15 years). This number
chn be subdivided into the duration related to;

- active menbers: 0 years (2021: 0 years) ;
- deferced membeis: 13 years (2021: 19 years); aind
-~ retired members: 10 yeirs (2021: 12 years).

The estimated amount of contributions expected to be paid to the scheme during the 2023 financial year is £ fm (2022: £1m),
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

38. Financial instruments

Citegorics of finaucial instruments

2022 2021
£000 £000
Financial asyets
Trade and other receivables 38.704 25,342
Cash and bunk bajances 171,039 95,781
209,743 121,123
Financial liabilitics measured at amortised cost A
Loans. 695,046 625,656
Trade und other payables 129,109 115,257
Lease linbilities 109,219 108,703
933,374 849,616

Fair value of finanecinl nssets and Habititles

All financial assets and liabilities arc accounted for-in line with the principles outlined in the accounting policics and the
Directors consider the carrying value to approximate their fair value.

Capitai risk management.

The Group manages Hts capital to cnsuré that entities in the Group will be able to continue as 4 going concern while
maximising the return to the shareholders through the optimisation uf‘the debt and equity balance. The Group's averall
strategy remains unchanged from 2021, The Grou) aims to achieve a debt/cquily ratio of no higher than 60/40.

‘The capital struclure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in note 22 afler deducting
cush and cash equivalents, and equily atributable to equily holders of the parcnl, comprising issucd cdpital, reserves and
refained earnings as disclosed in notes 27 to 33.

The Group is not subject to any extetnslly imposed capital requirements,

Financlal visk management objectives

Thie Group's treasury policy is lo mandge financial risks that arisc in relation to underlying business needs: This is achieved
by managing liquidity, reducing [inancial risk, mitigation of loreign currency and interest rate risks.
Market risk

The Giroup’s aclivilies expuse it pri’nmrily 1o the financial visks of changes in forcign currency cxchange rates and intercst
rates, ‘I'he Group uses local currency bank accounts and loans for each hotel -within the Group to manage its exposure to
interest rate and foreign currency risks:
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

38. Finaucial instruments (continued)
{aterest i'ate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk because enlitics in the Group borrow funds at loating interest vates. The risk hus
been managed by Ihe Group by the usc of interest rate swap contracts when deemed appropriste.

The Group seeks to miniimise the effects of this risk by using derivative financial instruments ivhere relevant. The use of
financisl derivatives is governed by the Group's policics approved by the board of dircetors, which provide writlen principles
on foreign exchanpe risk, interest rate risk, and the use aof financial devivatives and non-devivative financial instruments.
Compliange with policies and exposure limits is reviewed on a continuous basis. The Group. docs not enter into or trade
financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculalive purposes. The Group did not hedge its
interest rate risk in 2021 snd 2022, ’

Iuterest ¢ate sensitivity analysis

‘The scnsitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rutes at the bulance sheet dale. For
floaring rate liabifities, the unalysis is prepared assuming the amount of liability outstunding ‘al the balance sheet date was
oulstanding for the whole year.

If interest rates had been Q.5 per cent higher/lower and al} other variables were held constant, the Group’s prolit for the year
ended 31 December 2022 would decrease/increase by £155,000 (2021: decrease/inerense by £260,000). This is mainly
attributable to the Group's exposurc to interest rates on ils variable rate borrowings,

Foreign currency risk imanagement

The Group undertakes transactions denominated in loreign currencics; consequently, exposures to exchunge rate fluctuations
arise. Exchange rate exposures dré managed within approved policy parameters at the uftimate payent fevel.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign cufrency denominuted monetary assets and monetary labilities at the reporting
date are as [ollows;

Liunbilities Assets
2022 2021 2022 2021
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
US Dollar 115,337 52,530 106,656 64,794
Buro 566,325 519,033 49,299 25,838

Foreign currency sensitlvity analysis
The main foreign currencies to which Group is exposed to are the US Dallar and the Luro,

Wilh respect to the Group’s forcign cusrency trapsiation exposure, und ossuming all other variables, including interest vates,
remuin constant, it is estimated that & 5% strengthening of sterling against both the US dollar and the Euro would have
decreased nel ussets by £63,282,000 31 December 2022 (2021 £26,053,000) and decreased Loss before tax by £ 13,995,000
(2021: decreased by £3,951,000). A 5 % weakening of sterling would exactly veverse the position whereby net assets would
increase and profit would decrease by Lhe sume amounts,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

38. Financial instraments (continued)
Credit risk

Credit risk relers W the risk thet a counter party will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss Lo the
Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with credit worthy counterpartics, Counterparties for cash and cash
equivalents arc with large cstablished financial institutions. Trade and other feccivables credit risk is mitigated by cach hotel
within the Group having a credit control funétion to approve counterpartics and monitor transactions and exposure. Loans
to fellow subsidiary undertakings are backed by a letier of suppert from the ultimate parent, (he Brunei Investiment Agency.

Liquidity risle

Ultimute responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board ol dircelors, which has established an appropriate
liquiditly risk management framework for the manigement of the Group's short-, medium- and lonp-term funding and
liquidity management requirements.

Liquidily is managed on a daily basis by the finance functions of the Group. They are responsible for ensuring thal the
Company has adequate liquidity for all operations, ensuving that the funding mix is-appropriate so as 10 avoid maturity
mismatches. The Group manages liquidity risk on behall of the Company by holding sufficient liguid assets of appropriate
quulity to ensure that short term funding requirements are covered within prudent limits,

Liuidity and intevest risk tables

The following table deteils the Group's remaining contractual matuzity for its finangial liabilities. The tables have been
drawn up based on the undiscounted cosh flows of linancial liabilities based on the carliest date on which the Group can be
required i0 pay. The table includes bolh interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that lnterest fows are foating ratc,
the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curves at the balance sheel date. The coniractual maturity is based on
the carliest datc on which the Group may be required to pay.

Carrying, Within 1to2 Jtos S+
amount 1 year years years yeurs  Total £2000
£000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
31 December 2022
Nopsinterest bearing loans 446,958 43,707 403,251 . - 146,958
Variable interest rate louns 135,035 3,988 73,452 8,819 55437 141,696
Fixed interest rate loans 132,748 10,905 136,959 - - 147,864
714,741 58,600 613,662 8,819 - 55,437 736,518
31 December 2021 _
Non-interest beaving loans 426,542 41,466 385,076 - - 426,542
Vuriable-intcrest rute louns 125,537 10,400 129,954 - - 140,354
Fixcd interest rate louns 81,184 2,066 75,014 7,490 - 84,570
633,263 53932 390,044 7,490 - 651,166
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Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

39. Related party transaclions

The Group's ultimate parent company, Brunci Investment Agency has agreed to provide financial support to it and its
subsidiarics 1 the extent necessary. for them 1o be able 1o continue o trade and pay their liabilities as they Tall due forat
least the next twelve months (rom the date of the approval of the director’s report on puge 8,

The company is a subsidiary underlaking of’ Ammar, Holding Cagperaliel'a Dutch COOP, the immediate controlling party.

The consolidated financial statements of Ammuar Holding Cooperatiet ave available o Ihe public and may be obtained fion
the Chamber of Cammeree, Ne Ruyterkade 5,1013 AA Aimsterdam, Holland. The ullimate pavent and contralling party is
the Brunei Investment Agency, a statutory bady incorporaled in Brunei. Consequcntly, us i statutory body, refated parties
to the company include all Brunei government ministries; departinents, agencies and their subsidiary undertakings and also.

include Brunciao citizens holding ofTice within Brunei and its government.

Amounts velating to subsidiaries
The Group provided hotel sevvices 1o its subsidiaries amounting to £2,500,000 (2021: £610,000). Amounis owed for these
servies us at 31 December 2022 amounted to £2,100,000 (2021; £1,515,000).

Amounts relating to fellow related parties

The Group occupies space owned by fellow related parties in four (2021: four) buildings in London, three on an annually
renewable agreement, the other on a tixed term and also four (2021: four) buildings in Paris, all on fixed tevm leases. The
total rent ¢harged for the year was £15,022,000 (202 1; £12,792,000). It is éstimated that the market rent for the yeur of the
space cecupicd is £15,022,000 (2021 £12,792,000). Amounts owed for the rent as 4t 31 Decembher 2022 amounted to
£29.121,000 (2021: £19.829,241). L.oans from fellow Group companics arc covered in note 22.

During the yeur (he company incurred branding and tredemark licence tecs ol £3,171,000(2021: £1,796,000) from a fcilow
related party. Amaounts owed for these fees ot 31 December 2022 amounted to £§1,312,600 (2021: £8,140,900).

The company considers that key management are the board of directors, wha provide the direction and strategy ot the Group.
Direclors’ emaluments.are sel oul in note 9.
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Dorchester Gioup Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

#h), Capital cominitments

Capital commitments at the end of' the fingucial year (of which fio provision hus been made are as fultows:

2022
£000
Contiacted 13,372
Authorised not contracted - 1,895

2021
£000
7,390
2,361

41.:Pyst batance sheet events

‘Theére are no post balance sheet events,
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Dorchester Group Limited

Company statement of financial position
As at 31 December 2022

2022 2021
Note £°000 £4000
Non-current assets
Other intangibles ~ soltware 6 i2
Praperty, plant and cquipment £ 2 2
Invisiment in subsidiarics G 452,034 449,169
Trade and olhor reeciviables M 92,202 34,395
544,244 183,578
Current asscls
‘Trade gnd other receivables H 99,336 93,437
Cash and cash cquivalents 28.144 3.246
127,480 98,683
Total assets 671,724 582,261
Current liahilitics
Trade and other payibles i 11,996 2,287
Financial labilitics i) L3 05,778
123,100 98,065
Net current usscts 4,371 61y
Non-current lianbilities
Financial liabilities J 231,801 171,627
Total Uabilitics 354910 269,692
Net assets 316,814 312,569
Eqﬁl(y ’
Called) up share capital K 199.710 199,710
Capital reserve 20,921 17.326
Share premium secount 3.1 37,111
Retained carnings, 58.472 37.822
Totnl cquity 316,814 312,569

The notes on pages 67 (o 74 form an integral purl of these financial §lalc1\\él\ls.
‘The compuny made a profit alter tax ol £ 650,000 (2021: ﬁréﬁi ol £15,376,757)

These nancial statements of Dorchester Group Limited (company no. 01823605) weve approved and autliorised tor issuc
by the Board of Divectorson €9 Scplember 2023,

Sigucd on behall of the Bourd

oY

Softan Jani
Direcfor



Dorchester Group Limited

Company statement of chaunges in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2022

The notes on pages 67 o 74 form an integral part of these financial statements.

66:

Cnlled up Shave Retained Total
share Capital  Prenilum carnings equity
capital resevve account £000 £'000

£'000 £000 £'000
Balance at 1 January 2021 120,009 17,326 37711 42,445 217,491
Profit for the year - - - 15,3717 15,377
‘Total compréhensive income/ for the yeur - - - 15,377 13,377
Share issue 79,701 - - - 79,701
Balance 4t 31 December 2021 199,710 17,326 37,711 57,822 312,569
Profit for the year - . - 650 630
Fair villue adjustment - - . . -
Other comprehensive income for the year - - - . -
"olal comprehensive incame for the year - - - 630 650
Share issue . . - -
Capital reserve nddition . 3,595 . - 3,395
Balince at 31 December 2022 199,710 20971 37,011 58472 316814
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Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the company financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

A. Generil Information

‘The principai aclivity of the Company is the holding of investmenls in companiés nwning, leasing ind managing deluxe
five-star hotels. in addition the Company owns indivectly commercial properties in (he USA. Dorchester Groiip Limited is
a limited liabitity company domiciled and registered in England and Wales.

The registercd office is located at 3 Tilney Strect, London, WIK 1BJ.

B. Accounting policies

The [inanciul staiements huve been prepared on the going concern basis which assumes that the Company will conlmue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future, as lurther discussed in the Diréctors™ Report,

T'he functional aind prescntational currency is sterling,

Basis of preparation

‘These financial statements have been prepured in sccordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101: FRS 101 - Reduced
Disclosure Framework: Disclosure exemplions from international accounting standards in conformily with the requirements
of the Companies Act 2006 (“IFRS™) for qualilying cntities (“FRS 1017). The financial stutements have been prepared on
the going concern basis, under the historical cost convention, and in accordance with the Companies Aet 2006.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS. 101 requires the use of cerlain critical uccounting estimates.
Tt also requires- management (o excrcise its judgement in the process of applying the éompany*s accounting policics, The
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimales are significant o the
financial statcments are disclosed in note D,

In the preparation of these [inancial statcments, in accordance with FRS 101 the following exemptions from the
requircments of IFRS have been applied:

o Paragraph 38 of IAS 1,'Presentation of financial statements' comparalive information requirements in respect of
paragraph 79(a)(iv) of IAS 1.

o The following paragraphs of 1AS 1, ‘Presentution of financial statements’:

o 10(d), (statement ol cash flows);

s 10(1), (a stalement of (inancial position us at the beginning of the preceding per'od when and cntity applics un
accounting policy retrospectively or makes retrospective restatement of items in its financial stalements, or when il

reclassitics items in its financial statements);

16, (statement of compliance with atl [RS);

38B-D, (uddilional comparative information);

40A-D, (requirement for.a third statement of financial position;

111, (cash flow statement information); and

134-136 (cupital manageinent disolosures).

[AS 7, “Statement of cash flows’.

Paragraph 30 and 31 of LAS 8 *Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimaltes and errors® (requiremént for the

disclosure af information when an entity has not applied a niew [FRS thal his been issued but is not yet eficctive),

o ‘The requirement in IAS 24, *Related parly disclosures® (o disclose related party trunsactions entered into between two
or more members of a group,
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Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the company financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

B. Accounting policies (continued)

Iuvestinent in subsidiarvies

Invegtments are carvied at historical cost less any provision for impaiemént in value, The carrying value of investments are
reviewed at cach balanee sheet date to determine whether there is any indication of impaiment. If there is any evidence of
impairment (he recoverable value of the investment is estimated. Investments denoled in foreign eurrencies borvowings are
refransloted at the year-end rate, Any gain or loss arising from retrunslation or impainnent is taken divectly to the statement
of comprchensive income.

Finance income

Interest income is vecognised as it accrues using the effective intevest rate method. Dividend income from investments is
recognised an the date that the right to receive payment has been established.

Finaneial labilities

Financial linbilities are recognised in the Statement of financial position, when the company becoimes party o the contractual
provisions of an instrument. Upon initial recognition, financia} liabilities ave recognised at the faiv value of the consideration
payable,

Financial liubilities including rade payables are staled al amortised cost using the effective intercst ruie method, Amortised
cost is caleulated by taking inlo account any issue costs and any discount or premtium on settlement. A financial liubility
ceases 10 be recogpised when the obligation under the Hability has been discharged, cancelled or cxpired.

Current and deferred income tax

The tax cxp(.ns(, for the period comprises curreni and deferred tux. Tax is recognised in (he i income stitément, excepl to the
extent that il relates (o items recognised in other complchenawc income or directly in equity. fn this case, the tax is also’
recognised in other comprehensive income or dircetly in cquny, respectively.

The current incomie fax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substanlively enacted al the balance sheet
dute in the covintrics where the company operales and generates taxable income, Ms\nabemenl periodicilly evaluatcs
posilions taken in tax relurns with respect 10 sitwationy in which applicable lax regulation is subject to interpreiation. -t
estublishes provisians where approprisic on the basis of amounts$ expeeted Lo be paid to the tax duthorities,

Deferred income tax is recognised on temporary differences mmng belween the tax bases ol assels and lmbllttncs and their
muymg amounts in the financlal siatements. However, deferrcd tax labilitics arc not recognised if they arise from the initinl
recoghition of goodwill; or avise from initial’ rccogmtuon of an asset or liabitity in a (ransaction other than a busmcss‘
combination that al the lime of the ransaction affects neither accounting nor takable prolit/ loss. Deferred income tax is
delermined using tax rates (and luws) that have been enacted or subsiantively enacted by the balance sheet date and are
expected Lo apply when the related deferred income lax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is setiled.

Deferred incomc_la:; assets are recogniscd only to the extent that it is probable hal future taxable profit will be uvailable
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred inconte tax assets and liubilitics tre offset when there is a legally enforceuble right to olfset current tax ssels
against current. tux libilities and when the deferred income taxes ussets and Habilities relate to income 1axes levied by the
same taxation suthority on either the same tuxable entity or different texable entitics where thére is an intention 1o settle Lhe
balances on a el basis.

Dividends

Dividends payuble by the Company are recognised gross of withholding laxes and are recogniscd in (he financial statements
in the yeur that they are declared and authorised by the directors and sharéholders and as a deduclion rom shafeholders'
equity. Dividends proposed after the year end date wilt be recognised in the financiul stalements in subsequent financial
yeurs,
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Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the company financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

B. Accounting policies (continued)

Shate capital
Ordinary shares ar¢ clossified as equity.

Fareign currencies

Transactions denominated in foreigh currencies are transtated into sterling at the vates ruling at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in farcign currengies at the balance sheet date are retranslated at the rales ruling
at that date. Those translation differences arc deall with in the statement of comprehensive income,

Fivancial assets and linbHities

Financial asscls and ligbilities are tecognised in the company’s balance sheet when the company becomes party to the
contraclual provisions of the instrument,

Financial assets and liabilities are inilially measured at fair value. Transuction costs that wre directly allributable o the
seyuisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial Habilities at fair value
through profit and loss) ave added (o ot deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriale, on initiu) recognition. In the case of louns not ul a murket rate of interest, the finuncial asset or liubitity is
measured, inifiatly, al the present value of the future cash flow discounted at » market rate of interest for a similar debl
instrument and subsequently al amortised cost.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables ave initially recognised ol fair value, normaily equivalent to the invoice amount, and
subscquently measured ot amortised cost using the cilective interest method, less pravision tor impairment. Interest inconte
is recoghised by applying the effective interest rute, excepl for short-term reccivables when the recognition of interest swould
be immaterial.

Impairment provisions for current and non-current trade receivables are recognised based on the simplilied approach within
IFRSY using a provision matrix in the determination of lifetime expected credit losscs, During this process the probability
of the non payment of the trade receivable is assessed and multiplied by the amount of the expected foss avising from detault
10 detcimine the lifetime expeeted credit [oss for the trade receivables. Balunces are written off when the receivable amount
is decmed frrecoverable.

Trile and other payables

Trade and other payables are obligations to pay for goods or services thul have been acquired in the ordinury coutse of
business. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within onc year oc lesg (or in the novrmal
operating cycle of lhe business if longer). 1f not, they are peesented as non-current liabilitics.

Trade nnd other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subscquently measured al amortised cost using the
cifective interest method,

()
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Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the company financial statements (continuecd)

Tor the year ended 31 December 2022

C. New standards and amenchnents

{a) New standards, amendments and lnterpretations effective from 1 Jaiuary 2020

No new standayds inipacting the Compiiny that has been adopted in the annual linancial statements for the ycur ended
31 December 2022;

(b) New standards, inferpretations and amendments ot yét eifective~ = - — - - =

———

Fhere ure a nuimber of standards, amendments to standards, and interpretations which have been issued by the IASB that are
cffective in future accounting periods that the Group has decided not to adopt eaily.

The following amendments are effcctive for the petiod beginning | January 2023

* Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amieidments 1 IAS | and IFRS Practice Statement 2);

o Insurance Contracis (1FRS 17);

« Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments ie 148 8); and

» Daferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities avising from a Single Transaction (Amendments 19 148 12)

The tollowing amendments are effective for the period beginning | January 2024:

¢ IFRS 16 Leases {Amendment -« Liability in a Sale and Leasebuck).
*1AS | Presentation of Finuncial Stenemients (Amendment — Classification of Liabilities as Current or Nun -current),
* IAS | Presentation of Finaniclal Statements (Amendment — Non-current Liabilities with Covenants).

The Group is currently assessing the impact of these new accounting standards and amendments. The Group does not belicve
that the smendinents 1o LAS | will have a significant impact on the classilication of its liabilities, as the conversion feature
in its convertible debt instruments is classified us an equity instrument and therefore, docs not affect the classilication of its
convertible debl s a non-current liability.

‘the Group dues not expecl any other standards issucd by the LASB, but not yet effective, Lo hive a maicrial impact on the
group.

D. Ciitical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates, assumptions ond judgements arc continually evalusted and ure bused on historical expericnce and other fudtors,
including expectations of future cvents that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances,

Investment in subsidiaries

fnvestments in subsidiariés are held at cost, less provision for impuirment. Significant judgement is involved in determining
whelher the carrying valie of the investment in subsidiary is impaired. The impairment assessmenl is bused an the fair value
of the hotel operations carricd out in the subsidiaries. The valuation. is driven by a dliscounted cashflow as valued by an
external valuer on un annual basis,

E. Directors' remuncrition and employees’

Details of Directoes® remuneration in the currcnl and prior year are given'in note 9 of the congaliduted inancial stalements.
on page 3d. The average number ol employees excluding Directors durving the ycar was 6 (2021: 8),
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Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the company financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

F. Property, plant and equipment

Cost )
At | January 2022
Addilions
Disposiils

AL 31 December 2022
Accumulated depreciation
At Y Tanuary 2022

Charge

Disposals

At 31 December 2022

Net book value
Al 31 December 2022

At 3t December 2021

G. Investnient in subsidiarics

Cost at 1 Januiry . .
tnvestment in subsidiary undertukings at cost
Investmont in subsidiary undertaking by mcans of sharc for share exchange

Sub total
Loans to subsidiasy undertukings:

Cost at 31 Deceniber
Provision for Impairment
Al I fanuary

impairment charge

At 31 December

Net boak value

Plant and

machinery Total

£'000 £'000

26 26

26 26

(24) (24

(24) (24)

2 2

2 2
2022 2021
£'000 £'000
328,173 328,173
182,711 182,711
510,884 510,384
126,256 123,391
637,140 634,275
185,106 196,690
- (11,584)
185,106 185,106
452,034 449,169

The compuny has investments in subsidiary undertakings as oullined in.note 19. livestments in subsidiary undertakings at

cast include the original cost of investiment and capitalised fong term loans.

1



Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the company financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

H. Trade and other receivables

2022

Amounts due within one year £000

Amounls owed by subsidiary undertakings 91,916

VAT 1,331

Prepayments 89

99.336

TN ety LRI

Amounts owed by subsidiury undertakings are repuyable on demand and are intercst [vee.

Amounts due after more than one year 2022
£000
Loans 10 subsidiary undertakings interest free 92,201
92,201

2021
£'000

95.398

39

95437

2021
£'000

34,395

34,395

ot i =

The fong term interest frec loans (o fellow subsidiary undertakings of the BIA have been discounted at » market ratc of

intercst of 4,75 %,

1. Trade and ofhes payables

2022 2021
£:000 £000

Oue within one year _
Amounts owed to subsidiarics undertakings 11,178 177
Trade creditors s 13
Other creditors 241 241
Accrupls and deférred income 542 1,856

11,996

2287

Amounts owed to subsidiary underlakings and ultimute pavent-undertakings are payable on demand and are nori-interest

bearing,

J. Financial liabitities 2022
£000

fncluded within curvent liabilities
Loans from ultimate pareni undertakings 22,709
Louwsis from subsidiary undertaking 88,404
ni,ns
=-1 1 1 T 13

7

2021
£2000

22,709
73,069

95,778

mmmommm



Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the company financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

J. Financial liabilities (continued)

2022 2021
£000 £000

Included within non-current liabilities
Loans from ultimate parent undertaking — unsecured 99,902 43,522
Loan from fellow subsidiary undertaking — unsecured, and interest free 131,899 128,106
231,801 171,628
Total financial liabilities 342,914 267,406

The long term interest free loans from fellow subsidiary undertakings of the BIA have been discounted at a market rate of
interest of 4.750%.

2022 2021
£°000 £°000
Loans maturing between:
Within 1 year 111,113 95,778
1 to 2 years amount to 231,800 171,628
342,913 267,406
K. Called up share capital
2022 2021
£000 £000
Authorised:
200,000,000 ordinary shares of £1 each 200,000 200,000
£000 £°000
Allotted, called up and fully paid:
199,710,427 ordinary shares of £1 each 199,710 199,710

L. Financial commitments

At 31 December 2022, the company had no capital commitments (2021: £ nil).
M. Contingent liabilities
The company has indemnified a third party for the risk that its subsidiary, Dorchester Services Limited is unable to make
any payments that fall due under a contract the latter has signed to manage a newly built hotel complex in Dubai, which it
is estimated will commence trading in 2023.

N. Related parties

Other than those parties identified in note 39, all other related party transactions were with subsidiary undertakings.
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Dorchester Group Limited

Notes to the company financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

O. Ultimate parent and controlling party

Ammar Holding Cooperatief a Dutch COOP is the immediate controlling party and the smallest group in which the company
is consolidated. The consolidated accounts of Ammar Holding Cooperatief are available to the public and may be obtained
from the Chamber of Commerce, De Ruyterkade 5,1013 AA Amsterdam, Holland. The ultimate parent and controlling party
is the Brunei Investment Agency, a statutory body incorporated in Brunei, and the largest group in which the company is
consolidated.

Statement Of Profit Or Loss

As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the statement of profit or loss of the Company is not presented as
part of the financial statements.
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